Association of American Medical Colleges
Proceedings
and
Annual Report
for 1974

Table of Contents

Proceedings	
Assembly Minutes	
November 14, 1974.	507
0.00	
Annual Meeting Program Outlines	-1-
Plenary Sessions.	515
Council of Deans	515
Council of Academic Societies.	515
Council of Teaching Hospitals	515
Organization of Student Representatives	515
CAS-COD-COTH Joint Meeting	516
Minority Affairs Program	516
Quality Assurance and PSROs	516
Seminar on Foreign Medical Graduates	516
Group on Business Affairs	516
Group on Medical Education	517
Group on Public Relations	517
Group on Student Affairs	518
Planning Coordinators' Group	518
International Medical Education	518
Research in Medical Education	518
Faculty Roster Report	520
Annual Donort	
Annual Report Message from the President	523
	525
	530
National Policy	532
Working with Other Organizations.	535
Education	537
Biomedical Research	539
Health Care	
Faculty	541
Students	542
Institutional Development	544
Teaching Hospitals	546
Communications	547
Information Systems	548
Treasurer's Report	. 550
AAMC Membership .	552
AAMC Committees	553
AAMC Stoff 1974	559

Proceedings

Minutes of AAMC Assembly Meeting

November 14, 1974

Conrad Hilton Hotel, Chicago, Illinois

Call to Order

The Assembly meeting was called to order by Dr. Daniel C. Tosteson, chairman, at 1 30 p.m.

Declaration of a Quorum

Mr. Robert Derzon, AAMC secretary-treasurer, declared the presence of a quorum.

Consideration of the Minutes

The minutes of the November 6, 1973, Assembly meeting were approved without change.

Report of the Council of Deans

Dr. Emanuel Papper, chairman of the Council of Deans, reported that the COD had devoted most of its business meeting to the consideration of Association policy on health manpower legislation. Following a detailed report on the status of current legislative proposals by the AAMC president, Dr. John Cooper, the COD had opened the floor for discussion of the issues by the deans. The ensuing discussion reflected a substantial divergence of opinion as to the role of the federal government in supporting medical education and the role of the medical schools in responding to various legislative requirements

The COD also heard reports dealing with the Association's response to the National Board of Medical Examiners' GAP Report and on a Coordinating Council on Medical Education paper dealing with foreign medical graduates. The COD did not have time to discuss or take a position on either of these issues.

The COD business meeting concluded with the election of Dr. John Gronvall as chairman-elect and Dr. Andrew Hunt as memberat-large and with the installation of Dr. Ivan Bennett as chairman for the upcoming year.

Report of the Council of Academic Societies

Dr. Ronald Estabrook, chairman of the Council of Academic Societies, reported that over the past year the CAS had matured into a cohesive body which can now speak largely with one voice.

The CAS devoted a substantial portion of its business meeting to consideration of the report of the Association's Task Force on the GAP Report, chaired by Dr. Neal Gault. The CAS did not accept the GAP Task Force Report as submitted but endorsed several amendments which will be transmitted to the Executive Council for consideration. The CAS endorsed the GAP Report recommendation that passage of a uniform qualifying examination be required of both domestic and foreign graduates prior to entrance into accredited programs of graduate medical education. However, the CAS believed that the existing three-part examination system should not be abandoned until an acceptable qualifying examination had been developed and evaluated. The CAS also recommended that the Liaison Committee on Medical Education require for accreditation purposes evidence that the medical school utilizes external evaluation data on the assessment of students with emphasis on the basic sciences.

Following this discussion the CAS addressed the issues surrounding renewal of health manpower legislation. The Council endorsed enthusiastically the following statement of the CAS Administrative Board:

The CAS Administrative Board voted unanimously to recommend that the AAMC be advised of the faculty's concern about the portions of the proposed HPEA bill that constrain and impinge upon the integrity of undergraduate and graduate medical education, even to recommend the defeat of the total bill. The CAS Administrative Board further recommends that every dean and every board of trustees seek every opportunity to obtain funding through alternative means such as tuition increases, increased support from state legislatures, or a decrease in faculty size where necessary to preserve the role of the medical schools in developing and implementing educational programs

Dr. Estabrook indicated that a continual topic of consideration by the CAS over the past year has been the eroding of basic science support and the related problems of biomedical research and research training. Particular activity has been focused on the evaluation of basic science programs in the accreditation process.

The CAS business meeting concluded with the installation of Dr. Jack Cole as chairman and the election of Dr Rolla Hill as chairmanelect

Report of the Council of Teaching Hospitals

Mr. Robert Derzon, chairman of the Council of Teaching Hospitals, reported that the past year had witnessed an expansion in the influence of the COTH and the AAMC in the development of public policy impacting upon the teaching hospitals. Mr. Derzon briefly outlined the activities of the Council and staff to try to secure appropriate and fair regulations to implement sections of the 1972 Social Security Amendments. Mr. Derzon indicated that the Association's efforts had been fruitful and demonstrated the increasing effectiveness of the Association in representing its teaching hospital members.

Mr Derzon indicated that the COTH had held four regional meetings over the past year which were both informative and well attended. Annual surveys of university-owned hospital income and expenses and of house staff issues continued. In addition, an examination of the organizational and functional arrangements of computer capabilities in the teaching hospitals has been undertaken

Mr. Derzon reported that a committee of the COTH had prepared a comprehensive review of the accreditation standards and procedures of the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals. This study, undertaken at the request of the JCAH, was enthusiastically approved by the Executive Council for transmittal to the Joint Commission.

Support was expressed for the Association's efforts in the area of primary care education and for the Institute on Primary Care held in Chicago the previous month. COTH members indicated that they will participate in the six followup workshops, and Mr. Derzon urged the deans and faculty members to become involved. Criteria for membership in the COTH was reported to be the major unresolved issue facing the Council in the upcoming year. The COTH is attempting to reassess the requirement of a substantial commitment to medical education, which is currently evaluated on the basis of the number of residency training programs. The problem arises as a result of medical schools expanding their affiliations with community hospitals, often to provide primary care training opportunities

Mr. Derzon reported that Mr. Sidney Lewine had been installed as the new COTH chairman and that Mr. Charles Womer had been elected chairman-elect. He concluded his report by expressing the hope that through the AAMC the bond among hospital directors, faculty members, and deans would be strengthened.

Report of the Organization of Student Representatives

Mr. Daniel Clarke-Pearson, chairperson of the Organization of Student Representatives, reported that the OSR now had representation from 113 of the 114 medical schools and that 120 students representing 93 medical schools had attended the OSR annual meeting. He indicated that this increase in membership re flected the belief of the medical students that the AAMC is an important force in medical education and health care.

Mr. Clarke-Pearson reported that durin

the past year the OSR Administrative Board meetings had become synchronized with the Executive Council meetings and thus the OSR Administrative Board was able to review and make constructive input on the issues before the Executive Council. Of major concern to the OSR was the development of an Association response to the GAP Report. Student viewpoints were consolidated into regional position papers which were then submitted to the AAMC Task Force considering this issue.

As a result of OSR concern with the violations of the code of the National Intern and Resident Matching Program, a monitoring system was activated by which the AAMC would become a conduit for channelling reports of violations to the NIRMP Board of Directors. Mr. Clarke-Pearson indicated that this and other projects had been developed in conjunction with the Group on Student Affairs with whom the OSR meets jointly at the regional level.

Much of the time at the OSR annual meeting was devoted to the consideration of health manpower legislation. The position of the OSR would be discussed in more detail when this issue was discussed later in the agenda.

Mr. Clarke-Pearson concluded by reporting that the OSR had elected Mr. Mark Cannon as chairperson and Dr. Cynthia Johnson as vice chairperson.

Report of the Chairman

Dr. Tosteson outlined the activities of the Executive Council over the past year indicating that, except where immediate action was required, all policy matters were referred to the Administrative Boards of the constituent Councils for discussion and recommendation. Dr. Tosteson reviewed the recommendations of the Officers' Retreat and Executive Council for major areas of activity in 1974. He then outlined the steps which had been taken to implement these recommendations

The Executive Council approved a report of the Committee on the Financing of Medical Education setting forth the Association position on the roles of the private and public sectors in supporting medical education. The Executive Council also appointed and ulti-

mately approved a report from the Task Force on National Health Insurance chaired by Dr. James Kelly. The policy adopted supported no particular bill but set forth specifications which the Association will support in any pending legislation.

Dr. Tosteson indicated that the Coordinating Council on Medical Education has expanded its activities during the past year, its second year in existence. The Executive Council had approved the first two policy statements to be forwarded by the Coordinating Council to the five parent organizations.

Legal action against the Executive Branch of government over the impoundment of research, research training, and health manpower special project funds had been successful These law suits, which had been filed by the Association prior to the last Assembly meeting, had been won in both the U.S. District Court and the U.S. Court of Appeals. Following these decisions, the Administration released all funds which had been impounded in these programs. Largely as a result of the Association action and the clear intent of Congress, no significant portion of FY 1975 funds was impounded.

A major policy statement approved by the Executive Council during the past year was the Report of the Task Force on Foreign Medical Graduates. This policy puts the Association on record as favoring a uniform qualifying examination to be required of both U.S. and foreign graduates prior to entering graduate medical education. The thrust of the policy was to subject U.S. and foreign graduates to the same standard of evaluation and to deter the immigration of foreign trained physicians not meeting this minimum standard

A policy statement on moonlighting by house officers was approved, stating that moonlighting is inconsistent with the educational objectives of house officers. The statement continues to say that moonlighting should be an institutional consideration and establishes guidelines which an institution might wish to consider in cases where moonlighting is permitted.

The Executive Council approved the report of its review committee on the Medical College

Admission Assessment Program, establishing priorities for the revision of the Medical College Admission Test and for its future expansion into noncognitive areas. The Executive Council approved an increase in the MCAT fee to subsidize this revision.

Dr. Tosteson concluded by reporting that the Executive Committee of the Executive Council had met prior to each Executive Council meeting as well as on numerous occasions throughout the year both in Washington and by conference call. He indicated that the members of the Executive Committee had spent a great deal of time and energy working on behalf of the Association between meetings of the Executive Council. Dr Tosteson also thanked the staff of the Association for its capable support on behalf of the membership.

Report of the President

Dr. Cooper thanked Dr Tosteson for his great contributions to the Association and his tireless efforts in its behalf over the past year. He indicated that a detailed summary of Association activities over the past year could be found in the 1973–74 Annual Report and went on to highlight a few of these activities.

Dr John F. Sherman had been appointed by the Executive Council as the first vice president in the history of the AAMC. Dr. Sherman was familiar to most Association members as a result of his 21-year association with the National Institutes of Health. Dr. Cooper also reported that Dr. Hilliard Jason had joined the staff to head a new Division of Faculty Development.

Dr. Cooper reported that the Institute on Primary Care had brought together 400 participants, including deans and faculty members of departments of family medicine, internal medicine, pediatrics, obstetrics and gynecology, and psychiatry. The responses to the institute had been overwhelmingly favorable and six regional workshops will be held in the coming months to examine how individual institutions can respond. Dr. Cooper indicated that support for these efforts was essential since improving the availability of primary care was the number one priority of the federal health policymakers.

Dr. Cooper reported that the Association's staff was undertaking an extensive study of its activities, as well as of income and allocation of funds in order to better plan the long-range development of the AAMC. Since the dues and service fee income is essentially fixed, inflationary pressures have forced the Association to become more dependent on outside sources of support. This review will be carefully monitored by the Executive Council.

Dr. Cooper then turned his attention to some of the immediate problems facing the medical schools and teaching hospitals. Basic research support was diminishing as more federal funds were poured into contract research centers. Requirements being proposed for capitation support threatened to bankrupt the institutions attempting to carry them out. The instability of the schools was reflected by the turnover rate of deans and by the decrease in the number of students selecting careers in academic medicine.

Regulation of the health care industry, characterized by confusing and often conflicting requirements, further adds to the difficulty of coordinating medical center programs and to the instability of the institutions.

The decrease in the average term of accreditation demonstrates the effect which this instability is having on the quality of the educational programs. The rapid increase in enrollments, the inadequacy of financial resources, the turnover in deans and department chairmen, and the dilution of the faculty pool by new schools are all contributing factors.

Further pressures will be felt due to the skyrocketing rate of inflation. Pressures to reduce federal and state spending indicate that the institutions will have to look to other sources to offset these increased costs.

Dr. Cooper concluded by advising that the schools and hospitals take a pragmatic view of the future so that basic and essential programs can be preserved.

Report of the Secretary-Treasurer

Alluding to the more detailed report contained in the 1973-74 Annual Report, Mr. Robert Derzon, AAMC secretary-treasurer, an nounced that the Association had completed

a successful financial year in which income had exceeded expenditures and commitments. Mr. Derzon reported that the Association's reserves were sufficient to cover approximately six months at the current operating level. He expressed the opinion that this was a modest operating reserve for an association of the size of the AAMC.

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly accepted the report of the secretary-treasurer.

Report of the Coordinating Council on Medical Education

Dr. William G. Anlyan, AAMC representative to the Coordinating Council on Medical Education and the Liaison Committee on Medical Education, reported on the recent activities of those two bodies. He indicated that all five parent organizations had approved the CCME statement on the Responsibility of Institutions, Agencies and Organizations Offering Graduate Medical Education. The parent organizations are currently considering a report on the primary care physician which was forwarded by the CCME.

Dr. Anlyan indicated that a proposal to establish a Liaison Committee on Continuing Medical Education had been approved by four of the five parent organizations and that it was anticipated that the LCCME would become operational in June 1975. Dr. Anlyan also reported that the CCME, pending the approval of the parent organizations, hoped to appeal a decision by the U.S. Office of Education to recognize the Council on Chiropractic Education as an official accrediting agency. This appeal had already been approved by the AAMC Executive Council.

The CCME had approved and would be forwarding to the parent organizations a task force report on the role of foreign medical graduates. Another CCME task force on the financing of graduate medical education has prepared a report which is being revised for CCME and LCGME consideration.

Issues which will be confronting the CCME in the coming year are the staffing of the CCME, the expansion of the LCME, and the

impact of national health insurance on the continuum of medical education.

The LCGME, pending the approval of DHEW, planned to begin functioning as an accrediting body as of January 1975. Subgroups of the LCGME would review the Residency Review Committee actions, with each subgroup being responsible for one or more specialties. Trials of this procedure during the past year proved to be effective.

Beginning in 1975 residency programs will be charged \$300 for accreditation surveys. This charge will cover a portion of the expenses of the survey and review process. The balance of the cost will be covered by the parent organizations of the LCGME.

In concluding, Dr Anlyan briefly reflected on provisions in the House health manpower bill which would empower the DHEW Secretary to make the CCME responsible for allocating residency training positions among accredited programs.

Election of Institutional Members

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected the following schools to Institutional Membership in the AAMC: University of Massachusetts Medical School in Worcester, State University of New York Stony Brook Medical School, Texas Tech University School of Medicine, University of Texas Medical School at Houston.

Election of Provisional Institutional Member

ACTION. On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected the following school to Provisional Institutional Membership in the AAMC: Wright State University School of Medicine.

Election of Academic Society Members

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected the following societies to Academic Society Membership in the AAMC: Society for Critical Care Medicine, Association for Academic Psychiatry.

Election of Teaching Hospitals Members

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected the following hospitals

to Teaching Hospital Membership in the AAMC Faulkner Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts, Mayaguez Medical Center, Mayaguez, Puerto Rico; McLean Hospital, Belmont, Massachusetts; Memorial Medical Center, Springfield, Illinois.

Election of Emeritus Members

ACTION On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected the following individuals to Emeritus Membership in the AAMC: Dr. Robert Hanna Felix; Dr. Walter Campbell MacKenzie.

Election of Distinguished Service Members

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected the following individuals to Distinguished Service Membership in the AAMC Dr. Donald Caseley, Dr. Carleton Chapman, Dr. Sam Clark, Dr. Ludwig Eichna, Dr. Harry Feldman, Dr. Patrick Fitzgerald, Dr. Robert Forster, Dr. Robert Glaser, Dr. Charles Gregory, Dr. John Hogness, Dr. Robert Howard, Dr. William Hubbard, Dr. Thomas Hunter, Dr. Thomas Kinney, Dr. John Knowles, Dr. Robert Marston, Mr Matthew McNulty, Dr. Russell Nelson, Dr. John Nurnberger, Dr. Jonathan Rhoads, Dr. David Rogers, Dr. Albert Snoke, Dr. Charles Sprague, Dr. Robert Stone, Dr. Daniel Tosteson, Dr James Warren, Dr. Ralph Wedgwood, Dr. William Weil.

Election of Individual Members

ACTION. On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly elected 175 people to Individual Membership in the AAMC.

Amendment of the AAMC Bylaws

The Executive Council had approved and forwarded to the Assembly a recommendation that the AAMC Bylaws be amended to change the requirement that the Executive Council meet within eight weeks after the annual meeting of the Assembly. It was suggested that this time period be expanded to 120 days. The purpose of this change was to allow more time after the election of new officers for those officers to meet at the Annual Retreat and for the report of that Retreat to be circulated among the Executive Council members.

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly voted to amend Title VI, Section

4 of the AAMC Bylaws to read. The annual meeting of the Executive Council shall be held within one hundred twenty (120) days after the annual meeting of the Assembly at such time and place as the chairman shall determine.

AAMC Policy on Health Manpower Legislation

Tosteson reviewed the Association's current policy on health manpower legislation. which was developed by the Executive Council from the recommendations of the Committee on Health Manpower, chaired by Dr. Julius Krevans. The AAMC position supports a continuation of the federal role in providing a stable base of support for medical education in the form of capitation grants. The AAMC position also recognizes the need to respond to problems of geographic and specialty distribution, and supports bonus incentives for projects in these areas. Permeating this policy is the feeling that federal support for medical education should stabilize rather than manipulate the educational process. After briefly describing the bills currently pending in Congress, Dr. Tosteson opened the floor for discussion.

The members of the Assembly quickly agreed that a one-year extension of the existing legislation would be desirable, although several members questioned the possibility of Congressional acceptance of an extension. It was generally felt that a thorough reassessment of the AAMC's position could then be conducted and that there would be no lack of support due to the development of new regulations.

ACTION: On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly endorsed a recommendation of the Executive Committee that the AAMC support a one-year extension of the Comprehensive Health Manpower Training Act of 1971 and, in the interim, completely reassess its position on renewal of this legislation, possibly through the appointment of a new Task Force reporting to the Executive Council.

Discussion then turned to how the Association should respond to provisions of the House and Senate bills if an extension of existing legislation was not possible. Several

deans recommended that the AAMC oppose on philosophical grounds any federally mandated requirements for capitation support. Members of the CAS seconded this point of view, emphasizing academic integrity and independence. Other deans agreed that the schools should be responsive to Congressional initiatives, and that federal support should not be viewed as an entitlement. Still others felt that the AAMC should act practically, seeking to reduce the number of requirements and to eliminate the most objectionable, while making sure that remaining requirements are adequately funded.

In response to this, Dr Tosteson read a list of capitation conditions which the Executive Committee had ranked in order of objectionability. The Assembly responded to this listing, again expressing a diversity of viewpoints as to whether the AAMC should accept any prerequisites for basic capitation support.

The OSR chairperson, indicating that the students had also been divided on this issue, read to the Assembly the position which had been adopted by the OSR:

In recognition of the immediate problems of maldistribution of primary care and the heavy expense of medical education and in order to guarantee our input into the deliberations regarding health manipower legislation which will greatly influence our future careers, the OSR hereby proposes: (a) That programs designed to solve these problems find their base in voluntary action on the part of the medical community; (b) That if obligatory service is to be required, such service should be required of all newly graduating health professionals; (c) That any of the programs must receive adequate financial support

In addition, the OSR supports the following general statements regarding health manpower legislation: (a) OSR opposes mandatory service by medical students, (b) OSR requests the expansion and improvement of voluntary programs in terms of attractiveness and feasibility, (c) OSR opposes service requirements for a certain fraction of medical students who must accept financial aid in order to obtain medical education due to the discriminatory aspects of such programs, (d) OSR requests that AAMC emphasize the oversubscription to current voluntary programs, (e) OSR requests the increase and improvement of primary care residency opportunities, (f) OSR requests an increase in

the time given to primary care training in undergraduate medical education, (g) OSR opposes federal control of specialty residency positions and programs.

Further discussion emphasized the need for the schools to diversify their sources of support. Restrictions imposed by the state governments were also discussed, particularly as they might augment or conflict with federal requirements.

Dr. Tosteson thanked the Assembly members for their input and indicated that their views would be utilized in any reassessment of the Association's position

Report of the Resolutions Committee

Dr. Tosteson announced that the Resolutions Committee, chaired by Dr Robert Van Citters, did not meet because there were no resolutions.

Report of the Nominating Committee

Mr George Cartmill, chairman of the AAMC Nominating Committee for 1974, presented the report of the Nominating Committee, which is charged by the AAMC Bylaws with reporting one nominee for the position of chairman-elect and one nominee for each vacancy on the Executive Council The following slate of nominees was presented: chairman elect: Leonard W Cronkhite, Jr, M.D., Executive Council, COD representatives J. Robert Buchanan, M.D., Neal L. Gault, Jr., M D.; Executive Council, CAS representative: Rolla B. Hill, Jr., M D.; Executive Council, COTH representatives Charles B. Womer, David D. Thompson, M D., Executive Council, Distinguished Service Member Kenneth R Crispell, M D.

ACTION On motion, seconded and carried, the Assembly approved the report of the Nominating Committee and elected the individuals listed above to the offices indicated

Installation of the Chairman

Dr. Tosteson presented the gavel to Dr Sherman M. Mellinkoff, the new AAMC chairman. In accepting, Dr. Mellinkoff expressed the

Association's appreciation and thanks for Dr. Tosteson's dedicated leadership during his year as chairman. The Assembly responded with a rising accolade. Dr. Mellinkoff expressed his feeling that as long as the members of the Association stand together and talk with one another that the many difficult and

seemingly insoluble problems could be re solved.

Adjournment

The Assembly meeting was adjourned at 4.00 p.m

The Eighty-Fifth Annual Meeting

Conrad Hilton Hotel, Chicago, Illinois, November 11-16. 1974

Theme: Educating the Public About Health

Program Outlines

PLENARY SESSIONS

November 13

Presiding: Sherman M. Mellınkoff, M.D.

The Right to Know—Public Education in Health

Daniel C. Tosteson, M.D.

The Missing Link in Health Services

Walter J. McNerney

The Role of Regulation in Public Education

Alexander M. Schmidt, M D.

The Role of the State Governments

Daniel J. Evans

November 14

Presiding: Daniel C. Tosteson, M.D.

Presentation of Borden and Flexner Awards

Mass Media and Health Education H. J. Barnum, Jr., M.D.

The Role of the Federal Government*

Caspar W. Weinberger

Feeling Good: Encouraging Better Health

Through Television

Wılliam H. Kobin

Alan Gregg Memorial Lecture:

The Role of Formal Education

Terry Sanford

COUNCIL OF DEANS

November 12

Business Meeting

Presiding: Emanuel M. Papper, M.D.

COUNCIL OF

ACADEMIC SOCIETIES

November 12

Business Meeting

Presiding: Ronald W. Estabrook, Ph D

COUNCIL OF

TEACHING HOSPITALS

November 12

Business Meeting

Presiding: Robert A Derzon

General Session

New Management and Governance Responsibilities for Teaching Hospitals

Robert M. Cunningham

ORGANIZATION OF STUDENT REPRESENTATIVES

November 10

Orientation Session

Reception

November 11

Business Meeting

Regional Meetings

Discussion Sessions

OSR Program

MEDICAL EDUCATION DIRECTIONS FOR THE

NEXT DECADE

November 12

Business Meeting

Regional Meetings

^{*} This paper was delivered by Dr. Theodore Cooper, deputy assistant secretary for health, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Mr. Weinberger is secretary of health, education, and welfare.

CAS-COD-COTH JOINT MEETING

November 13

SPECIALTY DISTRIBUTION OF PHYSICIANS

A Congressional Perception of the Problem Stephan E. Lawton

Redistribution of Specialty Training Opportunities—Options for the Private Sector Arnold S. Relman, M.D.

Redistribution of Specialty Training Opportunities—Options for the Government Theodore Cooper, M.D.

Panel Discussion

Chairman: Julius R. Krevans, M.D. Robert A. Chase, M.D. Charles B. Womer

Christopher C. Fordham, M.D.

MINORITY AFFAIRS PROGRAM

November 14

STATUS OF MINORITY GROUP STUDENTS IN MEDICAL EDUCATION

Keynote Speaker: Ralph J Cazort, M.D

Reactor Panel: Leonard L. Baird, Ph.D.
Michael J. Moorhead, J D.
Gilbort Ortiz, M.D.

Gilbert Ortiz, M.D.

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND PSROs

November 12

OPPORTUNITIES IN THE PSRO PROGRAM FOR TEACHING, RESEARCH, AND SERVICE

Moderator: Robert J. Weiss, M.D.

Introductory Remarks
John A D Cooper, M.D

PSRO Implementation at the National Level Ruth M. Covell, M.D.

DHEW Activities in Quality Assurance Henry E. Simmons, M.D.

Opportunities for Education in PSRO Clement R. Brown, M.D.

Opportunities for Evaluation and Research in PSRO

Sam Shapiro

Paul M. Densen, Sc.D.

Evaluation of National PSRO Program Michael J. Goran, M.D.

Summation

Robert J. Weiss, M.D.

Discussion

SEMINAR ON FOREIGN MEDICAL GRADUATES

November 12

Moderator: Neal L. Gault, Jr., M D.

The FMG as a Medical Resource Stanley S. Bergen, Jr., M.D.

FMGs in Specialties—Anesthesiology

Douglas W. Fastwood, M.D.

Douglas W. Eastwood, M.D.

The American Medical Student Abroad— An Approach

Donald W. King, M.D.

The AAMC Task Force Report Kenneth R Crispell, M.D.

Discussion and Panel Response

Panel: Robert J. Weiss, M.D. Betty Lockett, Ph.D. Emanuel Suter, M.D.

GROUP ON BUSINESS AFFAIRS

November 11

Regional Meetings

Business Meeting

November 12

Program Meetings

THE BUSINESS OFFICER AS A COMMUNICATOR

Moderator: Harry E. Randles, Ph.D.

Co-trainers: Alson B. Dougherty

Garad Adelbert Williams, Ph.D Constance L. Leean, Ph.D.

Marilyn Kratz

Augustus J. Carroll Memorial Lecture: Bridging the Gap Between the Management Decision Maker and the Management Scientist Robert S. Stone, M.D.

Program Meetings

GROUP ON MEDICAL EDUCATION

November 12

Plenary Session

EVALUATION OF PROFESSIONAL COMPETENCE DURING THE CONTINUUM OF MEDICAL EDUCA-

TION: THE UNDERGRADUATE PHASE

Chairman: Howard Levitin, M.D.

Research Methodology Stephen Abrahamson, Ph.D.

Basic Science

Lauro F. Cavazos, Ph.D.

Clinical Training

Gerald S. Gotterer, M.D., Ph.D

Small Group Discussions

Computer Based Educational Programs

Host: Robert G. Votaw, Ph.D.

Performance Based Standards: Criterion

Referenced Evaluation

Host: James Bobula, Ph.D.

Ambulatory Care/Community Setting

Host: Thomas Johnson, M.D.

Management Problems in Self-Paced Curricula

Host: Robert A. Barbee, M.D.

Methods and Implications in the Assessment

of Clinical Competence

Host: Frank T Stritter, Ph.D.

Evaluation of Professional Skills and Attitudes

Host: Evan G. Pattishall, M.D., Ph.D.

Quality Assurance: Agenda for Educational

Planning

Host: Robert L. Kane, M.D.

Evaluation of Curricular Change

Hostess: Sarah M. Dinham, Ph.D.

GAP '74: Licensure and Recertification

Host: Robert L. Tuttle, M.D.

Interinstitutional Development and Sharing of

Multi-Media Educational Materials Host: William L. Millard, Ed D.

November 14

Regional Meetings

November 15

Business Meeting

Plenary Session

INSTITUTIONAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE "CONTINUUM" OF MEDICAL EDUCATION: A PANEL DISCUSSION OF PROBLEMS AND PROGRESS

Chairman: Christine McGuire

A Matrix System for Organization and Management of Educational Programs

Wılliam J. Walsh, M.D.

Determination and Implementation of Goals and Objectives

William D. Holden, M.D.

A System of Internal Evaluation of Trainees and Programs

John E. Corley, M.D.

An Alternate View of Institutional Responsibility

Perry J. Culver, M.D.

GROUP ON PUBLIC RELATIONS

November 11

MEDICAL PR '75

Past Chairmen's Reception and Dinner

November 12

General Session

Awards Luncheon

Case Studies

Business Meeting

November 13

General Session

GROUP ON STUDENT AFFAIRS

November 15

MEDICAL STUDENT SELECTION: ITS ROLE IN GEOGRAPHIC AND SPECIALTY DISTRIBUTION

Keynote Speaker:

John L. Caughey, Jr., M D

Business Meeting

PLANNING COORDINATORS' GROUP

November 12

ACCOUNTABILITY—ITS IMPACT ON PLANNING

Moderator: Michael T Romano, D D S

Medical Schools: A Vital Public Resource

Jack T. Conway

What the Public Expects from Medical Education

Lowell E. Bellin

Moderator: John C Bartlett, Ph.D.

Accountability File #OR47—Portland Area Situation Pink and Blue

Joseph J Adams Richard A. Rix

Accountability File #TX01—The Waller County Affair

Paul A Hoffstein

John C. Bartlett, Ph D

Jack M. Steele

GUIDELINES FOR PLANNING WITH MEDICAL SCHOOLS' EXTERNAL CONSTITUENTS

Clinic 1: Developing a Long-Range Approach to Dealing with the External Constituents of Medical Schools

Sutherland Miller, Ph.D.

Roger Bennett

Clinic 2: Developing Interpersonal Skills Useful for Dealing with Lay Individuals in the External Constituency

Kent A. Ballard

Business Meeting

INTERNATIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION

November 12

Moderator: Neal L. Gault, Jr., M.D.

International Aspects of AAMC

"Core Course" in International Health Educa-

Student Attitudes Toward International Health

Evaluation of the Yugoslavian Fellowship Program for Medical Students

Discussion

RESEARCH IN MEDICAL EDUCATION: THIRTEENTH ANNUAL CONFERENCE

November 12

PRESENTATION OF PAPERS CLINICAL COMPETENCE I

Moderator: Lawrence Solomon, Ph.D.

Computerization of a Patient Management Problems Examination to Prevent "Retracing"—Charles F. Schumacher, Ph.D., Fredric D. Burg, M.D., W. C. Taylor

A Comparative Study of Four Methods for Scoring Experimental Computer-Based Examination for Clinical Problem-Solving—Charles F. Schunacher, Ph.D.

The Dimensionality of Measures Derived from Complex Clinical Simulations—Michael B. Donnelly, Ph.D., Richard E. Gallagher, Ph.D., Joseph W. Hess, M.D., Martin J. Hogan, Ph.D.

CAN YOU BELIEVE STUDENTS' EVALUATIONS?

Moderator: Harry Maisel, M.B., Ch.B.

Approaches to Two Methodological Problems in Student Evaluation of Instruction—Lawrence C. Hartlage and Fenwick Nichols

The Doctor Fox Effect: An Experimental Inquiry Into the Validity of Student Ratings of Instruction—John E. Ware, Jr., Ph.D. and Reed G. Williams

Effective Clinical Teaching—Frank T. Stritter, Ph.D., Jack D. Hain, Ph.D., David Grimes, M.D.

Instructional Planning Implications of Student Program Evaluation in the Final Year of Undergraduate Medicine—P. N. Byrne and A. I. Rothman, Ed.D.

STUDENT ATTITUDE CHANGE

Moderator: Frederick J. Ramsay, Ph.D.

Medical School Applicants and Empathy—Don A. Rockwell, M.D. and F. M. Pepitone-Rockwell, Ph.D.

Attitude Changes Among Medex and Medical Students—Robert L. Kane, M.D. and Donna M. Olsen, Ph.D.

Frustrations and Hostility of a Freshman Medical Class: Student Views—Gerda Hansen Smith, Ph.D.

The Characteristics of Students Who Enter Medical School and Their Views of the First Year: Results of a National Longitudinal Study—Leonard L. Baird

CLINICAL COMPETENCE II

Moderator: Gary Arsham, M.D.

Longitudinal Investigation of Changes in Interviewing Style of Medical Students—Norval Scott, Ed.D., Michael B. Donnelly, Ph.D., Joseph W. Hess, M.D.

The Evaluation of Physical Examination Skills: Techniques for Direct Observation and Their Reliability—Barbara J. Andrew, Ph D.

The Effectiveness of the Use of a Simulator in Training for Certain Health-Care Tasks—Kaaren I. Hoffman, Ph.D. and Stephen Abiahamson, Ph.D.

FACULTY ATTITUDE STRUCTURE

Moderator: Judith Garrard, Ph.D.

The Nurse Neurologist Team—Demonstration Model for Undergraduate Student Education in Interdisciplinary Health Care in a Secondary Care Setting—R. Tamblyn and H. Barrows, M.D.

Paired Comparisons and Study of Nine Philosophical Assumptions Underlying an Undergraduate Medical Education Program— Deborah C. Rugg and Thomas E. Gamble, Ph.D.

Philosophical Range Responses of Physicians Involved in Innovative Medical Education— Susan J. Rohrer. Ph.D.

EDUCATIONAL STREAKERS

Moderator: Stephen Abrahamson, Ph D.

Performance Benefits for Basic Medical Science Students Using a Computer-Assisted Assessment System—Les A. Jones, Ph.D. and W. E. Sorlie

A Self-Instructional Approach to Imagery Training for Medical Students—Frederick L. Gale, Ph.D., Marjorie L. Kupper, Jane W. May, Frank T. Stritter, Ph.D.

Factors Influencing Mastery of Neuropathology Objectives in Discipline and Problem-Oriented Integrated Curricula—Thomas Parmeter, Ph.D. and Margaret Jones, M.D.

CLINICAL COMPETENCE III

Moderator: William O. Robertson, M.D.

Peer Evaluation by Analysis of Consultants' Notes—Antoine Hadamard, M.D., Sidney Fink, M.D., Robert Michel, M.D.

Team Testing for Clinical Knowledge: An Oral Exam by Any Other Name Smells Sweeter—Bernard S. Linn, M.D. and Robert Zeppa, M.D.

Clinical Judgment of Students—A Preliminary Report—G. R. Norman, Ph.D., H. Barrows, M.D., J. W. Freightner, M.D., V. R. Neufeld, M.D.

The Relationship Between Student Achievement and Sequencing of Student Assignment on a Third Year Medicine Rotation—Donald R. Korst, M.D. and Howard L. Stone, Ph D.

EDUCATIONAL IMPLICATIONS OF QUALITY
ASSESSMENT

Moderator: Fitzhugh Mayo, M.D.

An Information System for Improving Physicians' Quantitative Prescribing Habits—Michael W. Pozen, M.D., Herschel Gloger, Dorothy D. Dunlop

The Behavior and Attitude Changes Associated with Medical Students Performing Peer Review—Daniel M. Barr, M.D.

A Study of the Reliability and Validity of the Patient Satisfaction Scale—John E. Ware, Jr., Ph D., Mary K. Snyder, W. Russell Wright, JoAnne Young

Utilization of the Problem-Oriented Medical Record Approach in Identifying Socio-Economic Medical Problems—Carter Zeleznik, Paul C. Brucker, M.D., Garbriel d'Amato, M.D., Alvin F. Goldfarb, M.D.

FACTORS IN THE ADMISSIONS PROCESS

Moderator: Roger O Lambson, Ph.D.

Faculty Reading as a Potential Source of Academic Difficulty in Medical School—Robert J Ambrosino, Ph D., Paul L. Brading, Ph D., Lorraine K. Noval

Career Decisions of Unaccepted Applicants to Medical School—David M. Levine, M D and Carol S Weisman, Ph D.

A Systematic Evaluation of an Admissions Process—Arthur S. Elstein, Ph.D. and Howard S. Teitelbaum, Ph.D.

Do Admissions Interviews Really Make a Difference? An Attempt to Predict Admissions Committee Decisions Using Academic and Interview Data—Michael L. Rainey, Ph.D. and Beth K Dawson

The Use of the Discriminant Function as a First Screen of Applicants to Medical School—Thomas J. Cullen, Ph.D

PRESENTATION OF SYMPOSIA

Feasibility and Applicability of the Keller Method as an Adaptable Alternative Within the Medical Basic Sciences

Organizer: Frank T. Schimpfhauser, Ph.D

The Teaching and Evaluation of Interpersonal Skills in Medical Education

Organizer: Harold G. Levine

Independent Study Programs in the Medical Basic Sciences

Organizer: James V. Griesen, Ph.D.

A Responsive Evaluation of Two Programs in Medical Education as Reviewed by the

Theorist, the Evaluator, and the Program Director

Organizer: Irene G. Klintberg, Ph.D.

Recent Advances in Design and Development of Written and Computer Clinical Simulations Organizer: Philip G. Bashook, Ed.D.

The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator in Medical Education and Practice

Organizer: Mary H. McCaulley, Ph.D

November 13

PRESENTATION OF SYMPOSIA

The Medical Inquiry Project: Major Findings and Implications for Medical Education Organizer: Arthur S. Elstein, Ph.D.

Extramural Preceptorships in Medical Education

Organizer: Mark S. Rapoport, M.D., M.P.H.

Educational Programs Based upon Patient Care Evaluation

Organizer: Carter Zeleznik

Institutional Evaluation of Medical Schools: Their Products and By-Products Organizer Daniel M. Barr, M.D.

Self-Instructional Materials and Systems Organizer: Maurice Levy, Ed.D.

The Use of Simulated Patients in Problem-Based Undergraduate Medical Education Organizer: H Barrows, M.D

FACULTY ROSTER REPORT

November 15

PROFILES OF U.S. MEDICAL SCHOOL FACULTY

Moderator: Ben R. Forsyth, M.D.

Employment Patterns

Philip W. Anderson, Ph.D.

NIH Post-Doctoral Training Programs
Stuart L. Fribush

Women and Minorities

Thomas A. Larson

Foreign-Trained Physicians in Academic Medicine

- - - - - -

Stuart L. Fribush

Annual Report

Message from the President John A. D. Cooper, M.D.

We are entering a new era of governmental direction and control over the health sector.

A number of factors have contributed to this rising tide of domination which threatens to engulf the entire enterprise. There is a growing concern about the rising costs of health care which are outstripping the spiralling inflation that has gripped every sector of the economy. This concern is heightened by the increasing share of health care costs being borne by government at all levels. There is dissatisfaction with the progress being made in providing accessibility to medical care in underserved urban and rural areas and with the growing difficulty of obtaining care by those previously well-served. The disillusionment of the nation with Watergate and related affairs has also played a role. Those holding office are seeking ways to regain favor with what many of them perceive to be a disenchanted electorate. Expressions of dissatisfaction with the health care establishment, especially the medical schools, provided one way to accomplish this task.

New legislation abounds with proposals to mandate more government intervention in all aspects of the health care sector. Federal support for biomedical research, health care for the poor and elderly, and the training of health professionals carries new and often unrelated requirements as conditions for award. The medical schools and their teaching hospitals, which have become increasingly dependent on federal funds as their other fiscal resources become less adequate to carry out their socially vital missions, are being used as a convenient handle to advance the federal government's solutions to perceived shortcomings in the national health scene.

This is very apparent in the renewal of the Comprehensive Health Manpower Training Act of 1971. This was originally conceived as a program to provide a federal share of the costs of educating physicians and other professionals to assure an adequate supply of human capital to carry out federally-mandated programs in health. It is now viewed as a vehicle to remedy

geographic distribution, to further increase the rate of production of physicians, to change the mix of specialists, to define the departmental organization, the curriculum and the financing for family medicine programs, and to determine the allocation of resources to medical school outreach programs.

It is clear that the original objectives of the manpower legislation have been lost in the rush to effect simple and hasty solutions to complex problems. Providing some fiscal stability to the medical schools through unencumbered capitation may have come to a rapid end. The costs of implementing the requirements for support may exceed substantially the funds received under the act.

The Social Security Amendments of 1972 imposed further constraints on the academic medical center. New restrictions on the reimbursement of physicians for medical care rendered in the teaching setting have been delayed pending the completion of a study by the Institute of Medicine This study will also encompass geographic and specialty distribution and the education and training of foreign medical graduates Regulations on reimbursement for hospital costs growing out of the amendments have created serious financial problems for teaching hospitals. The criteria used for setting the limits and charges did not take into account the unique features of the large teaching hospitals which provide most of the complex tertiary care in the American system. Efforts to contain inflationary pressures may lead to further actions to make health care delivery a fully federally-controlled industry.

Preserving the quality and integrity of the education, research, and service programs of the academic medical centers in the face of these forces constitutes the most important challenge confronting us in the years ahead. This annual report chronicles the broad range of activities through which the Association, working with its members, is attempting to meet these challenges.

Executive Council, 1973-74

Daniel C. Tosteson, chairman Sherman M. Mellinkoff, chairman-elect John A. D. Cooper, president

Council Representatives:

COUNCIL OF ACADEMIC SOCIETIES

Ronald W. Estabrook Jack W. Cole Ernst Knobil

Robert G. Petersdorf

COUNCIL OF DEANS Emanuel M. Papper J. Robert Buchanan Ralph J. Cazort John A. Gronvall Clifford G. Grulee, Jr. Julius R. Krevans William F. Maloney* William D. Mayer* Robert L. Van Citters

COUNCIL OF TEACHING HOSPITALS

Robert A. Derzon Leonard W. Cronkhite, Jr. Sidney Lewine

ORGANIZATION OF STUDENT REPRESENTATIVES Daniel L. Clarke-Pearson

Administrative Boards of the Councils, 1973-74

COUNCIL OF ACADEMIC SOCIETIES Ronald W. Estabrook, chairman Jack W. Cole, chairman-elect Carmine D. Clemente, secretary Robert M. Blizzard A. Jay Bollet David R. Challoner D. Kay Clawson Rolla B. Hill Ernst Knobil Robert G Petersdorf

COUNCIL OF DEANS

Leslie T. Webster

Emanuel M. Papper, chairman Ivan L. Bennett, Jr., chairman-elect J. Robert Buchanan Ralph J. Cazort John A Gronvall Clifford G. Grulee, Jr. Andrew D. Hunt, Jr.

Julius R. Krevans William F. Maloney* William D. Mayer* Robert L. Van Citters

COUNCIL OF TEACHING HOSPITALS

Robert A. Derzon, chairman Sidney Lewine, chairman-elect Leonard W. Cronkhite, Jr., immediate past chairman

David L. Everhart, secretary Daniel W. Capps David A Gee David H. Hitt Arthur J. Klippen J. W. Pinkston, Jr. S. David Pomrinse John M. Stagl David D. Thompson

Charles B. Womer

Madison B. Brown, AHA representative

^{*} Resigned

The Councils

Executive Council

The Executive Council held four meetings during the year. Deliberations at these meetings covered a wide range of matters affecting the medical schools and teaching hospitals. The Council acted on a number of issues arising from discussions of the constituent Councils or referred for action by the membership. Except in cases where immediate action was needed, all policy matters were referred to the constituent Councils for discussion and recommendation before final action was taken.

This year marked the appointment of the first vice president of the AAMC. At its March meeting the Executive Council appointed John F. Sherman to this position. Dr. Sherman's responsibilities also include serving as Director of the Department of Planning and Policy Development. Dr. Sherman's previous position was as Deputy Director of the National Institutes of Health, where he had served for twenty-one years.

The Annual Retreat of the elected officers was held in December prior to the first meeting of the new Executive Council. Five major areas of activity were identified by the Retreat participants and reaffirmed by the Executive Council as major priorities for the Association during the coming year. These were the completion of a report on the financing of medical education, the development of a specific Association position on national health insurance, further consideration of solutions to the specialty and geographic distribution of physicians, the coordination of agencies collecting data in the health field, and an examination of the role of the medical schools and teaching hospitals in educating the public about health.

The Executive Council approved two reports of the Sprague Committee on the Financing of Medical Education. The first report set forth the Association position on the costs

attributable to undergraduate medical education, based on samples taken at twelve representative institutions. The second report outlined the Association's views on the responsibility for financing medical education, including the roles of both the private and public sectors.

Another Retreat priority was pursued through the establishment of a National Health Insurance Task Force chaired by Dr. James F. Kelly. After several meetings at which all of the pending legislative proposals and varying philosophies were discussed extensively, the NHI Task Force developed a position which supported no particular bill, but set forth recommendations which the Association would support in any pending legislation The Task Force report was approved by the Executive Council to form the basis for any future Association testimony in this area.

As one of the parent organizations of the Coordinating Council on Medical Education, the AAMC is asked to ratify all policy statements issued by that body. The Executive Council this year approved the first two policy statements to be forwarded by the Coordinating Council. The first, entitled "Statement on the Responsibilities of Institutions, Organizations and Agencies Offering Graduate Medical Education," was similar to a policy established by the Assembly several years ago. The second policy statement, entitled "Physician Manpower and Distribution: The Primary Care Physician," was developed by a CCME committee seeking to make recommendations toward alleviation of the problems of specialty distribution of physicians.

The Executive Council met with the Association's attorneys on several occasions last year to discuss the possibility of taking legal action against the Administration to seek the release of funds impounded for research, research training and health manpower special

projects. After considerable deliberation, the Executive Council authorized the AAMC lawyers to initiate legal action. After both the District Court and the U.S. Court of Appeals ruled in favor of the Association, the Administration released the funds which had been impounded for these purposes. No significant portion of fiscal year 1975 funds was impounded, largely as a result of these actions.

The AAMC Task Force on Foreign Medical Graduates issued its report earlier this year. After considerable discussion and the adoption of an amendment suggested by the Council of Deans, the Executive Council approved this landmark report, which puts the Association on record as favoring a uniform qualifying examination at the interface of undergraduate and graduate medical education. The thrust of the report is to subject both U.S. graduates and foreign graduates to the same process of evaluation and to deter the immigration of foreign-trained physicians who cannot meet this minimum qualifying standard.

The Association has continued to work closely with the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Social Security Administration over the issuance of regulations implementing sections of the 1972 Social Security Amendments. Regulations which would have altered the pattern of reimbursement among teaching physicians were deferred by Congressional action pending a study to be undertaken by the Institute of Medicine. Regulations setting ceilings on hospital costs have been implemented for a period of one year despite the objections of the AAMC. The Association staff has been working closely with DHEW officials to attempt to obtain more equitable regulations at the end of the one-year period.

The Executive Council approved a policy statement on moonlighting by house officers which states that moonlighting is inconsistent with the educational objectives of house officer training. The statement continues to say that moonlighting should be an institutional consideration and establishes guidelines which institutions might wish to consider in cases where moonlighting is permitted.

The Executive Council approved the report

of its Review Committee on the Medical College Admissions Assessment Program. This report sets forth priorities for the revision of the Medical College Admission Test and for future expansion of the MCAT into noncognitive areas. The Executive Council recommended that these activities be financed by an increase in the MCAT fee.

Several changes in the AAMC Bylaws were recommended by the Executive Council and approved by the Assembly. The first increased the Assembly representation of the Council of Academic Societies and the Council of Teaching Hospitals, each to equal one-half of the number of representatives of the Council of Deans. A second change established a category of Distinguished Service Membership in the Association. Individuals elected to this category of membership will be those who have previously been active in the Association but because of their current positions are no longer members of any AAMC Council. A third change expanded the membership of the Executive Council to include one Distinguished Service Member and one additional representative of the Council of Teaching Hospitals.

The Council's Executive Committee met prior to each Executive Council meeting and by conference call on numerous occasions throughout the year. The Executive Committee was particularly vigilant in monitoring the constant changes in health manpower legislative proposals. Between meetings of the Executive Council, the Executive Committee was called upon to adapt the Association's position to the evolving legilsation. The Committee also held informal discussions during the year with an array of DHEW officials including Under Secretary Frank Carlucci, Assistant Secretary for Health Charles Edwards, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Health Theodore Cooper, NIH Director Robert Stone, and HRA Administrator Kenneth Endicott.

The Executive Council along with the AAMC secretary-treasurer, Finance Committee and Audit Committee maintained careful surveillance over the fiscal affairs of the Association and approved a moderately expanded general funds budget for fiscal year 1975.

Council of Deans

The Council of Deans held two national and several regional meetings during the year. The Administrative Board of the Council met four times in the interim between the national meetings and acted on behalf of the Council on all issues presented for the consideration of the Executive Council.

At its 1973 business meeting, the Council endorsed a proposed policy of the Liaison Committee on Medical Education that medical education programs which do not culminate in the award of the M.D. degree will be considered for accreditation only if the program is an existing accredited or provisionally accredited two-year program, a new basic science program in an institution committed to establishing a full M.D. degree program with their own resources or as part of a consortium, or a new basic science program in an institution formally affiliated with one or more established medical schools. In this last case, the program would be accredited as a component of the M.D. degree-granting institution or institutions.

In addition to recommending that new institutional and affiliate institutional members be elected by the Assembly, the Council endorsed a proposal which would provide the Council of Academic Societies and the Council of Teaching Hospitals with greater representation in the Assembly. The Council endorsed the establishment of a new class of members, "Distinguished Service Members," which would provide a means for recognizing the active and meritorious participation in the affairs of the AAMC of persons no longer members of any Council. Such members would have honorary membership on the Council recommending his/her election and would be invited to all meetings of the Council and have the privilege of the floor without vote. These members as a group would be provided a seat on the AAMC Executive Council. The Council heard reports of the Management Advancement Program, the Coordinating Council on Medical Education, and a program of the National Fund for Medical Education.

A second activity of the Council at the An-

nual Meeting was a joint meeting with the Administrator of Veterans Affairs, the VA Chief Medical Director, members of his staff, and administrators of VA hospitals. The Council also cosponsored with the Group on Medical Education and the Group on Student Affairs a program on evaluation. This meeting consisted of two half-day sessions which focused on a consideration of the Association's Medical College Admissions Assessment Program and the Report of the Committee on Goals and Priorities of the National Board of Medical Examiners.

The Council's spring meeting continued the recently established tradition of a two and one-half day retreat devoted to a consideration of a series of problems of concern to cleans under a common theme. The theme of this year's meeting was entitled "Zero Institutional Growth: Implications for Vitality and Leadership." The purpose of the meeting was to identify the capacity for institutional renewal in a period of constrained resources. The Council heard a series of thoughtful presentations on such matters as planning and governance, space management, tenure, collective bargaining, hospital regulation, and affirmative action requirements

Council of Academic Societies

The Council of Academic Societies, at its Annual Meeting, sponsored a half-day program on "Certain Ethical Aspects of Biomedical Research." This topic was extremely timely; during the ensuing months national concerns about protecting the rights of human subjects resulted in revised DHEW regulations and the passage of legislation establishing a national commission to study the problems relating to research on human subjects. Council of Academic Societies' members were heavily involved in the national debate on this issue.

At its spring meeting, the Council sponsored a debate on the issues of tenure and collective bargaining by faculties in institutions of higher education. Reduced resources and a slowing growth of colleges and universities have made these subjects a major national concern. The Council modified its rules and regulations to provide for the election of a seven-member Nominating Committee, chosen from those representatives present at the Annual Meeting, and providing for the Chairman of the Administrative Board to be the non-voting Chairman of the Nominating Committee. The Administrative Board was increased from nine to twelve members. Under the new rules three members are the Chairman, Chairman-Elect and immediate Past-Chairman; nine other members are elected for three-year terms with an equal balance being provided between basic and clinical science representatives.

The new dues structure for the Council, which provides for a sliding dues scale related to the active membership of each member society, was approved by the Assembly at the Annual Meeting and became effective for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 1974. Eleven new societies were elected to membership in the Council, while three resigned.

By action of the Assembly, the CAS voting membership in the Assembly was increased from 35 to 57 votes. The number of votes in the Assembly will, in the future, be adjusted so as to be equal to one-half of the number of institutional members. The CAS Administrative Board remained active throughout the year, reviewing all items which eventually were acted upon by the Executive Council

Council of Teaching Hospitals

The COTH Administrative Board held four meetings during the year, developing the programs and interests of teaching hospitals and providing input to all policy considerations of the Executive Council.

Federal governmental controls on the hospital industry and their specific impact on teaching institutions continued to be an area of particular interest to the Council. AAMC position statements were developed regarding the implementation of numerous sections of the 1972 Amendments to the Social Security Act (P.L. 92-603) including: Section 227, "The Payment of Teaching Physicians"; Section 223, "Cost Limitations in Hospitals";

Section 208, "Utilization Review"; and Section 221, "Limitation on Federal Participation in Capital Expenditures by Hospitals." The COTH Ad Hoc Committee on Economic Controls monitored governmental policies regarding inflation as they pertain to the health industry and made suggestions on redeveloping Section 223 cost control regulations

Special committees of the Council have assisted the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Hospitals (JCAH) in reviewing current standards with regard to the particular curcumstances and problems of teaching institutions. A similar project is underway with respect to revision of JCAH model medical staff bylaws. The Council continues to provide financial and logistic support to researchers interested in studying the financing, organization and provision of health services in the academic medical center environment. Last year two COTH Research Awards of \$2,500 each were granted doctoral students pursuing topics of interest to the Council.

COTH spring regional meetings were held in Salt Lake City, Atlanta, Chicago, and New York City. At the Western regional meeting Dr. Stuart Altman, deputy assistant secretary of DHEW, discussed the Administration's national health insurance proposal and Phase IV health industry controls. Walter J. Mc-Nerney, president of the Blue Cross Association made a presentation entitled "Special Problems of Teaching Hospitals." At the Southern regional meeting a session was devoted to addressing patient care studies, utilization review, and Professional Standards Review Organizations. Daniel W. Zwick, associate administrator of the Health Resources Administration, discussed "The Health Resources Administration: Current Programs, Organization, Financing and Priorities." The Midwest-Great Plains regional meeting addressed "The Role of the Organized Medical Staff in Academic Medical Centers and Institutional Responsibility for Graduate Medical Education." The Northeastern regional meeting was devoted to discussing case mix adjustment under Phase IV Economic Stabilization Program regulations.

Organization of Student Representatives

The Organization of Student Representatives has continued to evolve as an effective vehicle for medical student contribution to the Association's program and policy development process.

At the OSR Annual Meeting in 1973, task force groups addressed such issues as the admissions crisis, legislation and medicine, financial aid, student records, and OSR structure and function Also at the Annual Meeting, the Assembly approved two OSR-sponsored resolutions which urged the AAMC to provide more specific information on admissions requirements to applicants and premedical advisors.

The Executive Council approved a resolution in March providing for the OSR Administrative Board to meet four times per year in conjunction with the meetings of the other administrative boards of the Association. The coordination of OSR Administrative Board meetings with those of the other Councils provides a means for more effective participation in Association activity. The Administrative Board met in January, March, and June to conduct OSR business, and a

fourth board meeting was held in September to consider resolutions and plan for the Annual Meeting.

During the spring, the OSR sponsored regional meetings which were held in conjunction with the Group on Student Affairs (GSA) regional meetings. At these meetings, OSR members participated in joint sessions with the GSA; held discussion sessions on a wide variety of issues including the NBME Goals and Priorities Report, financial aid, and NIRMP; and conducted regional business meetings.

The OSR has been instrumental during the past year in developing a procedure for dealing with violations of the NIRMP rules. NIRMP Monitoring Committees have been established on medical school campuses at the recommendation of both OSR and GSA as a means by which violations of NIRMP procedures can be reported to appropriate national authorities. Another project in which the OSR has been actively involved is the review of the National Board of Medical Examiners Goals and Priorities Report Position papers were submitted by the four OSR regional groups to the AAMC GAP Task Force for consideration in formulating an AAMC policy statement on the report

National Policy

During the past year, the Association was unusually active in the consideration of national policies affecting the medical schools and teaching hospitals. Several major health initiatives which had been pending for nearly a year were finally taken up by the Administration and the Congress. At the forefront of national debate on health issues were the questions of health appropriations, the fate of research training programs sponsored by the National Institutes of Health, the extension of federal participation in health professions education, and the design of a system of national health insurance. The Association responded to these and a variety of other policy issues through testimony, discussions with key policy makers, commentary on proposed regulations, issuance of analyses and reports and, in some critical instances, through the initiation of lawsuits.

The fiscal year 1974 appropriations bill, approved by the Congress, contained an unusual provision to allow the President to impound up to five percent of the Labor-HEW funds appropriated for any given program. In return for this grant of authority the President signed the measure, thus avoiding the problems created by his veto of the 1973 appropriations bill. The President complied with the wishes of the Congress and allocated all 1974 funds not within the five percent margin of discretion.

In January 1974, the Administration released its proposed budget for fiscal 1975. Although the document was generally conciliatory, it attempted to make further cutbacks in federal funds for biomedical research, research training, and health manpower programs. The Association scrutinized the budget request and pointed out its deficiencies in testimony before the House and Senate Appropriations committees. The Association worked closely with the Coalition for Health Funding to advise the Congress of the special activities and unique needs of federally-funded health programs.

The Association also monitored Con-

gressional Administration activities which would affect national policies on biomedical research. During Congressional hearings, the Association emphasized the importance of continued programs of research, research training, and general research support, as well as the need for additional staff positions at the NIH. It also warned the Congress of the dangers of placing too much emphasis on targeted, rather than basic, research.

As part of its continued effort to assure the quality and integrity of federally-sponsored biomedical and behavioral research, the Association filed an amicus curiae brief on behalf of the DHEW in a suit brought by the Washington Research Project to obtain grant applications and evaluation documents from the National Institute of Mental Health. The Association advised the federal appellate court that the release of this information would threaten the integrity of the scientific peer review system, violate the proprietary interest of creative research investigators, and undermine the quality of government-sponsored research.

The policy statement of the AAMC Committee on the Financing of Medical Education was approved by the Executive Council and distributed to the Administration and the Congress. This statement—calling for multiple sources of support to ensure diversity in medical education, adequate funding for research, and equal educational opportunities for all students-formed the basis of the Association's position on the appropriate role of the Federal Government in the education of health professionals. An ad hoc Committee on Health Manpower had previously developed specific AAMC recommendations for the extension of the Comprehensive Health Manpower Training Act, which expired June 30, 1974.

During Congressional hearings on the extension of the health manpower legislation, the Association drew upon the findings and recom mendations of these two committees, as well a

those of the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences. The Association worked closely with the Federation of Associations of Schools of the Health Professions in developing its recommendations. It urged that a national policy be adopted which would allow stable, continuing institutional support on a capitation basis, with special project assistance for national emphasis programs. The Association also supported financial assistance to students to help lower economic barriers, greatly increased funding for the oversubscribed National Health Service Corps, and assistance for capital expenses. The AAMC vigorously opposed attempts to require mandatory service obligations for all medical students as well as federal intrusion into the areas of curriculum design and licensure.

Meanwhile, the Association continued to consider other aspects of medical education. It met with the Educational Council on Foreign Medical Graduates and the Commission on Foreign Medical Graduates to discuss the growing problems resulting from the immigration of graduates of foreign schools with inadequate medical educational programs. The organizations recommended establishing a national policy requiring FMGs to pass a uniform qualifying examination, and eliminating dual standards of admission. The Association's ad hoc Task Force on FMGs further recommended that the nation recognize that U.S. medical schools should be the major resource for U.S. physicians.

The Association supported a national policy of rectifying past educational discrimination through the use of affirmative action programs to provide adequate minority representation in higher education. The AAMC filed an amicus curiae brief in the U.S. Supreme Court, supporting the legality of the affirmative action program of the University of Washington School of Law. The high court later held moot the case (DeFunis v. Odegaard) involving a charge of "reverse discrimination" against a white male student.

The Association continued to play an active role in the development of national policies for health care and patient service. Foremost among the national health care issues was the debate on national health insurance legislation.

The Association's Task Force on National Health Insurance investigated the deficiencies in the present health delivery system, the distortions caused by financing mechanisms, and the role of national health insurance in modifying the delivery system. Based on the Task Force's findings, the AAMC joined the national debate and advocated the integration of all federal health care programs into a single national health insurance system Included among the Association's recommendations to the Congress were compulsory universal coverage and a comprehensive benefit structure. The Association supported state regulation of providers, with federal guidelines and standards for efficient and fair provider reimbursement. The continued financing of graduate medical education through funds for inpatient and ambulatory care was singled out as a necessary and appropriate federal role.

Additional legislative issues concerned the extension of the Hill-Burton program and the establishment of health planning systems. During Congressional hearings, the Association urged the creation of a Presidential-level Council of Health Advisors and a system of health planning based at the area level, with state-level regulation, and federal developmental aid.

The Association continued to respond to regulations proposed by DHEW to implement specific provisions of the 1972 Social Security Amendments. Regulations limiting the reimbursement of physicians providing care in the teaching setting were delayed by legislative action, pending completion of an Institute of Medicine study. Regulations imposing a ceiling on hospital charges went into effect for a one-year period despite the objections of the AAMC. The Association staff is monitoring the activities of DHEW to ensure that regulations published after the one-year period will be more equitable and less arbitrary.

In response to the growing public concerns over inflation in the health sector, the AAMC worked closely with the Cost of Living Council on the development of Phase IV guidelines on medical care costs. Since the expiration of the COLC in April 1974, the Association has been invited to participate in President Ford's summit meetings on inflation.

Working with Other Organizations

As one of the five parent organizations of the Coordinating Council on Medical Education, the AAMC has been active in the many areas which the CCME is beginning to explore During the 1973-74 year, the CCME acted on the recommendations of nine of its committees and forwarded major actions to the parent organizations for discussion and ratification.

The major thrust of the CCME during this past year was in the area of health manpower and physician distribution. Its ad hoc Committee on Physician Distribution prepared a paper entitled, "Physician Manpower and Distribution. The Primary Care Physician." This paper has been sent to the parent organizations for reaction and response. The Committee has been expanded and asked to address itself to the impact of foreign medical graduates on medical education and the delivery of health care. This report and other actions of the CCME will be brought to the parent organizations in the coming months.

The Liaison Committee on Medical Education continues to serve as the nationally recognized accrediting agency for programs of undergraduate medical education. During the 1973-74 academic year 37 accreditation surveys were conducted by the LCME as well as numerous consultation visits to universities contemplating the development of a new medical school. The attention of the LCME and its Task Force on Accreditation focused on the review of medical school applications submitted to the Veterans Administration for financial support under PL 92-541. Under Subchapter I of the law-Pilot Program for Assistance in the Establishment of New State Medical Schools-the LCME reviewed five applications and issued one letter of reasonable assurance. Under Subchapter II-Grants to Affiliated Medical Schools-the LCME reviewed 24 medical school applications and

issued letters of reasonable assurance to 16 schools.

The Liaison Committee on Graduate Medical Education has continued to meet regularly and is awaiting ratification of its bylaws by the five parent organizations so that it may move ahead with its function of accrediting programs in graduate medical education in conjunction with the Residency Review Committees. This year, the LCGME agreed to seat a representative of the national housestaff organizations. The LCGME has devoted considerable time to reviewing the actions of the Residency Review Committees. The LCGME has reaffirmed that its relationship to the Residency Review Committees is purely to help to develop standards, review guidelines and promote studies for the improvement of graduate medical education programs, maintenance of their quality, and responsiveness to the needs of the public. In addition, the LCGME has devised an appeals mechanism for programs whose approval has been withheld or withdrawn.

The Coordinating Council on Medical Education has approved a proposal to establish a Liaison Committee on Continuing Medical Education. When all five parent organizations approve the formation of the LCCME, it will begin to function parallel to the other liaison committees.

The Association has participated in a series of deliberations with 15 professional organizations relating to a proposed National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistants. The participants have agreed that it would serve the best interest of the public and other health professionals, as well as the physician's assistants themselves, if a free-standing commission were established to certify physician's assistants. The purpose of the Commission would be to safeguard the public and potential employers by maintaining high pro

fessional and ethical standards in the profession of physician's assistants through recognition of those achieving and maintaining appropriate knowledge and skill in the field.

The AAMC continues to work closely with the American Medical Association and the American Hospital Association on issues of common interest. Major collaborative efforts were undertaken this year in the areas of health manpower legislation and on regulations proposed by the Social Security Administration to limit hospital per diem rates. In addition, the AAMC Executive Committee has met with the officers of each of these important national organizations to discuss other issues and to facilitate cooperation in the future

The Association has maintained its close working relationship with the staff of the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences. The IOM this year completed and published its study on the costs and financing of medical education. The Association took a position generally supportive of the IOM effort and issued a detailed analysis of the differences between the IOM study and that of the AAMC Committee on the Financing of Medical Education. The Association has been actively involved in a second IOM study which will examine graduate medical education and the reimbursement of physicians in the teaching setting.

As a member of the Federation of Associations of Schools of the Health Professions, the AAMC meets regularly with members representing both the educational and professional associations of eleven different health professions. Much of the Federation's efforts during the past year were devoted toward the upcoming renewal of health manpower legislation. A Federation position on the renewal of the manpower authority was developed and each member association agreed to support this proposal as a minimum. The Association staff has also worked closely with the staff of the American Association of Dental Schools on such matters as health manpower legislation, development of data bases, and the sharing of information on matters of mutual concern.

Liaison with associations representing higher education outside the health field was

also strengthened during the year. Discussions on various issues of common interest were held with representatives of the American Council on Education, the Association of American Universities and the National Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges. Of particular usefulness was the informal arrangement whereby different organizations took the lead in various legal matters. For example, in a court case involving government patent policies, the ACE developed a draft of an amicus curiae brief which the AAMC later joined In another instance, the AAMC accepted primary responsibility for developing a position opposing unreasonably restrictive regulations proposed by DHEW on conflicts of interest involving former DHEW employees The exchanges with these same organizations have led to an informal arrangement whereby each has accepted the responsibility for monitoring policies developed by specified federal agencies in areas of common interest

The Coalition for Health Funding, which the Association helped form five years ago, continues to grow in size, now having 42 non-profit health related associations in its membership. A Coalition document analyzing the Administration's proposed health budget for fiscal year 1975 and making recommendations for increased funding is widely used by Congress and the press.

The AAMC continues to work with the Association for Academic Health Centers on issues of concern to the vice presidents for health affairs Representatives of each organization are invited to the Executive Council and Board meetings of the other. In addition, these governing bodies of the two organizations approved guidelines formalizing ways in which the two associations would work together in the future.

The Association has continued to help strengthen medical education in the Americas by participating in the Panamerican Federation of Associations of Medical Schools Specific projects this year involved four key areas: (a) exploring the mutual benefits to be derived by social security institutions and medical schools in Latin American countries;

(b) improving the managerial capability in Latin American medical schools; (c) expanding the use of self-instructional materials throughout North and South America; and (d) developing the role of medical education in community health programs.

With assistance from the W. K Kellogg Foundation, the PAFAMS chief for programs of research and planning in medical education spent a month at AAMC headquarters this year to plan for a network by which teaching and learning materials might be produced and shared throughout the Americas. The Josiah Macy, Jr Foundation agreed to provide AAMC with professional staff support for the next two years to develop and carry out joint AAMC-PAFAMS activities in this area

Funds from the U.S. Agency for International Development are supporting a study in four developing countries of health professions chools and the extent to which they and their faculties are involved in the planning of integrated systems for primary care and health maintenance. A grant from the Commonwealth Fund continues to assist with AAMC's comparative study of medical education and health services as they relate to one another in three developed countries presently operating national health insurance plans.

This year AAMC again contributed administrative and logistic support to the World Federation for Medical Education, helping to organize the International Conference on the Physician and Population Change held in Stockholm. The Association is represented in WFME through the Panamerican Federation of Associations of Medical Schools.

Education

The Association continued to expand its concerns across the continuum of medical education. The medical schools are increasingly becoming engaged with their broad responsibilities for graduate medical education. At least sixty schools reported in a survey that they are moving toward assuming institutional responsibility for graduate medical education. With the increasing national concern being expressed about modifying the distribution of graduate education opportunities and making the number of graduate positions more closely fit the number of U.S. students seeking graduate medical education, this movement by the academic medical centers is particularly important. Whether the private sector can effectively control the size and characteristics of the graduate medical education universe is being carefully evaluated by the Congress. Two bills establishing a federal role in controlling graduate medical education were introduced in 1974. The fate of such legislation will, in large measure, depend upon the private sector's ability to change specialty distribution without federal initiative.

Closely tied to the Association's concerns for graduate medical education was the report of the Task Force on Foreign Medical Graduates, which was approved by the Executive Council in June. The Report recommends that the Association endeavor to have all students seeking graduate medical education (whether U.S. or foreign educated) demonstrate equivalent levels of competence by passing a national qualifying exam. The report further recommends that special programs be developed to study the remedial educational needs of students educated abroad. Support is being sought to implement these special studies.

The concept of a national qualifying examination for all students entering graduate medical education programs in this country is

related to the response of the medical education community to the report of the Goals and Priorities Committee of the National Board of Medical Examiners. This report, among other things, recommends to the NBME that a single qualifying examination at the interface between undergraduate and graduate medical education replace the present Parts I, II and III of the NBME certifying examination A committee drawn from the Group on Medical Education held regional meetings with representatives from the schools to discuss the implications of the "GAP" report. These discussions stimulated sufficient concern that the Executive Council appointed a special task force for the purpose of developing an Association position on the GAP report. The report of this task force, to be discussed by the Councils at the 1974 Annual Meeting, will be acted upon by the Executive Council after receiving these inputs.

The Medical College Admissions Assessment Program, which was conceptualized through the participation of numerous individuals in regional and national task forces last year, was reviewed by a committee appointed by the Executive Council The review committee recommended implementation of the program and provided guidance regarding the priorities to be emphasized. Highest priority was given to the development of new separate tests of cognitive assessment to replace the present Medical College Admission Test. The new tests will include reading comprehension, quantitative reasoning, biology, chemistry and physics. High priority was also given to the development of ongoing information and educational services to support the new assessment system. The committee urged that the Association seek outside support to design assessment instruments to evaluate problem-solving and communications skills and other noncognitive characteristics of applicants, including biographical characteristics. The committee emphasized that research efforts should be directed toward the development of better measures of clinical performance and the identification of any personal characteristics which might predict optimal performance. After approving the recommendations of the MCAAP Review Committee, the Executive Council appointed a Committee on Admissions Assessment to work with the staff in implementing the recommendations

A major grant proposal to continue the Longitudinal Study of 2,200 physicians who graduated in 1960 was submitted to the Bureau of Health Services Research. It is proposed that several strategies be utilized to assess the clinical performance of these physicians, now fifteen years out of medical school, in an attempt to correlate career outcomes with personal characteristics of these individuals and their schools, as measured during the period from 1956 to 1960. In June a colloquium on career development brought together experts in this field and individuals from the medical schools particularly concerned with the influence of selection and education on ultimate career choice.

The Association's project with the National Library of Medicine and the American Association of Dental Schools to identify, review and assess effective non-print educational materials completed its first full operational year. A total of 20,814 separate titles were identified and 1.543 of these were reviewed by nine panels. The review panels considered 805 titles of sufficient educational value and quality to be included in a data base of the National Library of Medicine; of these, 150 were rated as excellent. It is anticipated that by early 1975 these titles, as well as additions provided by further reviews, with abstract descriptions, will be available through a national computer network designated AVLINE which will be similar to the current MEDLINE system for printed material.

With the identification and review system for multimedia materials fully operational, the Association is proceeding with a similar effort in the area of computer-based educational materials. This effort, supported by the National Library of Medicine, will also initiate the development of a Library of Evaluation Materials, which eventually will provide access to instruments which can be used by the faculties in evaluating educational programs and students.

The Association has completed a feasibility study on developing a health sciences multimedia learning advancement program. This study, supported by the Kaiser Family Foundation and The Commonwealth Fund, is directed toward ultimately improving quality control and evaluation methods for the development and utilization of multimedia learning systems.

The third edition of the Curriculum Directory was published this year. This edition provides expanded information on the required and elective programs in all U.S. and Canadian medical schools. Partial support for the publication of this edition was provided by the Josiah Macy, Jr. Foundation.

Five issues of AAMC Education News have been published. This newsletter, supported by the National Fund for Medical Education, was sent to over 34,000 full-time faculty members listed in the Faculty Roster. More than twenty reports on educational innovations and issues were included in the first volume. A year-end evaluation of the impact of this publication indicated that it is being widely read and is fulfilling a previously unmet need by informing the medical school faculty members about innovative educational programs throughout the country.

Biomedical Research

The AAMC has been actively involved in many aspects of biomedical research policy. The Association was instrumental in procuring the release by President Nixon of over \$165 million in impounded fiscal year 1973 funds. The President's action followed two federal court rulings in favor of the Association. In ruling for the AAMC, the court held that DHEW Secretary Weinberger and Office of Management and Budget Director Ash had acted unlawfully in refusing to obligate Congressionally-appropriated health manpower and research funds. The court ordered the defendants to release and obligate \$29 million in health manpower special project funds, and \$136 million in NIH funds for research, research training, and fellowships. The Association's suits were among 57 different impoundment actions filed against the Administration in 1973. As a direct result of this lawsuit and the favorable court decisions which resulted, the Administration released and obligated all impounded funds and reestablished research training programs which had been terminated in January 1973.

Prior to this legal action, elimination of the NIH and NIMH research training programs for developing young biomedical investigators had so clearly become the policy of the federal government that a meeting of representatives from the major universities responsible for biomedical research training was scheduled. This invitational conference was held in Seattle, Washington, for representatives from medical schools, voluntary health agencies, foundations, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, and the National Academy of Sciences. The Association and the University of Washington School of Medicine sponsored the session, which focused on developing ideas and plans for the assumption of increased responsibility by nongovernment agencies for planning and monitoring the development of the nation's biomedical research manpower. Three major groups were considered by the conference participants as inseparably interdependent in carrying forward research manpower development: the faculty of the nation's colleges and universities; the informed public, particularly those active in the voluntary health agencies; and legislative and administrative branches of the federal government. Major supporting roles were anticipated from private foundations and commerce.

Rising national concern about the ethical aspects of biomedical research programs was evidenced by the enactment of legislation to establish a national commission for the protection of human subjects of biomedical and behavioral research. In addition, regulations were published to codify the DHEW guidelines for the protection of human subjects The Association testified in support of the legislation establishing the ethics commission, but indicated that regulatory authority should remain the responsibility of the DHEW secretary. Association staff participated as consultants to the DHEW committee which drafted regulations on the conduct of biomedical research on individuals with limited ability to give informed consent. In its activities related to the ethical aspects of biomedical research, the Association took a leadership role in encouraging both the institutions and the Council of Academic Societies to respond to the proposed regulations.

In discussions with key Administration and Congressional representatives, the AAMC lent strong support to the system of peer review of proposals for federal research support. Under attack from within the Administration, the peer review system allows eminent scientists in a particular field to judge which research areas and proposals are most worthy of support. This scientific review reduces the potential in-

fluence of politics on the selection of those areas of research activity which have the highest potential for yielding new information.

In testimony before both the House and Senate Appropriations Committees, the Association stressed the importance of the general research support program of the National Institutes of Health in the achievement of the goals of our national biomedical research program. During the past year, the concept of flexible research support demonstrated by the general research support program has been the subject of considerable discussion by DHEW. As part of this review process, the Association was asked to comment on proposed changes in the program, including a merger of the general research support grants and the biomedical sciences support grants. In commenting on the proposed program, the Association stressed that the primary purpose of the general research support program should be to assist those institutions significantly involved in biomedical research in the conduct of these programs. The Association strongly endorsed a continuation of the program's administrative flexibility and also called to the attention of the NIH Division of Research Resources the problem of creating a research base in newly established medical schools. It was suggested that the NIH develop a new and separately identified type of award with its own criteria and a designated sum of money to achieve the highly desirable purpose of broadening the base of institutions significantly involved in the national biomedical research effort.

In conjunction with the staff of the NIH Division of Research Resources, the Association developed a cost analysis and rate setting manual for animal research facilities. This manual will allow these facilities to enhance the quality of animal care and to become more self-supporting through an increased recovery of cost from the facilities' users. Throughout the year the Association participated in discussions with officials of the National Institutes of Health, the Department of Agriculture and other agencies of the federal government to emphasize that regulations directed toward

improving the quality of animal care facilities must not adversely affect the conduct of biomedical research utilizing laboratory animals

On several different occasions throughout the year, the Association was requested to support legislation directed either at the establishment of new institutes at the National Institutes of Health or directed toward the establishment of a new program to conquer a particular disease. In response to these requests, the Executive Council approved a policy statement on new research institutes and targeted research programs which reaffirmed the Association's strong belief that a key element in the past and future success of our national effort to conquer disease is a strong, diverse, balanced program of high quality biomedical research. The Executive Council opposed as a matter of considered principle the establishment of additional categorical disease institutes or institutes dedicated to one or more organ systems at the NIH.

However, it was recognized that to accomplish new objectives, it may be necessary to add new responsibilities to the existing programs of the various NIH institutes. The Executive Council, therefore, advised that legislative proposals mandating the establishment of biomedical research programs directed toward specific diseases be evaluated in the context of: the relative priority of the new programmatic focus in relation to ongoing programs; the appropriate distinction between research and non-research components of the proposal; the status of the scientific understanding of the disease and the potential for progress of a targeted approach; and the suitability of existing legislative authorities for the accomplishment of newly identified objectives.

The Association this year resterated its belief that the key to our ability to achieve long-term biomedical research goals is the maintenance of a strong program of fundamental research such as is supported by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences. The Association has continued to oppose vigorously proposals which would undermine this basic concept.

Health Care

Through a variety of programs, the Association carries out its responsibilities in assisting the academic medical centers in the development of improved health care systems. These activities are conducted with advice and counsel from the Health Services Advisory Committee.

During the past year, the AAMC completed a project providing technical assistance and consultation to five prototype developing health maintenance organizations associated with academic medical centers. The experience of the prototypes will be valuable to other institutions involved in the development of HMOs. As a corollary to this project, the Association has recently initiated a program to develop model curricula for physician training based upon the medical practice requirements of health maintenance organizations. This study will provide insights into the ways to involve students with the least interference with the basic concepts of this form of health care delivery. Six representative institutions will be selected to participate in the 21-month study, which is supported by a contract with the Bureau of Health Resources Development, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

The development of techniques for quality of care measurement and related educational efforts are gaining increasing importance as Professional Standards Review Organizations become established nationally. The Subcommittee on Quality of Care of the Health Services Advisory Committee has reviewed the results of an AAMC survey of teaching hospitals and medical schools measuring the development of formal programs for medical students in quality of care processes and the degree of involvement of academic medical centers in local PSRO development. The subcommittee has continued to stress the importance of such involvement, and meetings

with members of the Office of Professional Standards Review, DHEW, and the Bureau of Quality Assurance, SSA, have been scheduled to enhance this effort in a collaborative fashion. A program focusing on opportunities for medical research, medical service, and medical education activities within the PSRO legislation has been scheduled for the AAMC Annual Meeting in November 1974

The degree of commitment of the medical schools and teaching hospitals to educational programs related to primary care has been documented by a survey conducted during the summer of 1973. The data from this survey, published in the September 1974 issue of the Journal of Medical Education (49.823-33, Sep. 74), indicate that one-half of all the medical centers have made major changes in primary care education during the past three years, that one-half of the institutions now have programs for graduate level training in family medicine, and that two-thirds of all the academic medical centers are now involved in the training of new health care practitioners. The AAMC Task Force on Primary Care has promoted a number of activities including the half-day program on primary care presented at the AAMC Annual Meeting in November 1973 Judging from the response to this symposium, the need for a further exchange of information among academic medical centers on the development of primary care programs became apparent.

The Task Force has subsequently developed plans for an AAMC Institute on Primary Care to be held in October 1974 Participation in this Institute is being encouraged particularly among chairmen and faculty of departments of medicine and pediatrics Included among the issues to be addressed are the development of new organized model systems of care, interrelationships between departments of medi-

cine, pediatrics, and family medicine, and the training of new health professionals. The Institute is being supported by the Bureau of Health Resources Development, The Commonwealth Fund, the Kaiser Family Foundation, and The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.

Following the Institute, a series of six regional workshops will be held. In each of these workshops, invitees from area medical schools and teaching hospitals will share experiences in greater depth and explore in more detail the most effective ways to increase the number of primary care physicians.

Faculty

The Association has established a Division of Faculty Development as part of the Department of Academic Affairs. In an effort to assist medical school faculty members in carrying out their educational responsibilities, this Division will sponsor programs and workshops aimed at developing effective instructional strategies and improving methods of evaluating student performance.

The Association's Faculty Roster project, financed under a contract with the Bureau of Health Resources Development, has become increasingly useful in answering questions relating to faculty composition, mobility, and retention. The Roster was initiated in 1965 in order to inventory the intellectual capital of medical education, to study the sources of faculty and the circumstances of their training, and to characterize the flow of persons from one institution to another and the reasons for departure from academic medicine. It is the only comprehensive project of its kind and has been particularly concerned with the development of manpower to staff new and expanding medical schools. The medical schools are now being provided systematic and organized reports of their own Roster data to enable them to use the system as a faculty data base at the institutional level.

In addition to the record keeping capabilities of the Faculty Roster, it has provided the Association with the necessary data base to engage in analytical studies of medical school faculty. Work is currently underway to study faculty mobility, to examine the impact of federal support programs on faculty and institutions, and to determine the participation of women as medical school faculty members.

As part of the work of the Committee on the Financing of Medical Education, an examina-

tion of the manner in which faculty allocate their effort was conducted. The Committee was well aware that the instructional cost of the undergraduate M.D program is only one part of the full educational cost. An analysis of a group of faculty effort reports in conjunction with the best judgment of a panel of medical educators was directed toward the development of a model faculty member "fully involved in education." The effort of the faculty members at the schools under study was then related to the model in order to estimate the cost of the research and clinical activity components of the educational program leading to the M.D. degree.

Results from the 1973-74 Medical School Faculty Salary Study were released in May by the Association. Conducted annually, this study has continued to provide medical school administrators, faculty chairmen and others with a valuable tool for reviewing faculty salary trends. The number of individuals covered by this year's survey increased dramatically over the previous year—from 16,492 (105 schools) to 27,830 (106 schools) full-time faculty members The total number of full-time faculty members is approximately 35,000.

Support is being sought to launch a Visiting Professors Emeriti program. This idea has been developed in response to the medical schools' need to increase their health manpower resources in the face of a constricting financial picture. Under this proposal, the AAMC would act as a clearinghouse, providing the administrative coordination of matching the volunteer faculty to the host schools. Any commitments beyond this would be the responsibility of the individual and the institution involved.

Students

The extraordinary pressure for admission to American medical schools continued to be a major concern of the Association this year. There were 40,507 applicants for 14,124 positions available in American medical schools for the 1973–74 entering class That this pressure will continue is evidenced by the registration of 32,159 candidates for the May 1974 MCAT; this compares with 29,715 registered in May 1973. The Association strives to assist both the applicants and the schools so that students may be selected for admission equitably and fairly.

Eighty-three schools now participate in the American Medical College Application Service Through this service, applicants submitted 268,090 applications for the 1974-75 entering class. The filing of a single application on a standardized form by the students and the provision of transcript verification and grade interpretation services by AMCAS has greatly facilitated the admissions process. In addition, AMCAS now generates monthly reports on the status of admissions in the nation's medical schools Periodic reports are also generated for college advisors. These reports summarize national application and admission activity and provide information on applications filed by the subscribing undergraduate college's students.

Through an Early Decision Plan, in which 51 institutions participated, 628 students were admitted without filing an application to any other school. As a result, these applicants and the medical schools were spared the processing of almost 5,000 applications which the students would otherwise have filed

At the specific request of the Council of Deans, and with partial support from the Kaiser Family Foundation, a pilot admissions matching plan was tested in California and Michigan, all schools in these two states participated. The final evaluation of this matching

plan, which was conducted in parallel with the normal admissions procedures, has not yet been completed. Should the experiment be determined successful, consideration will be given to limited operational trials for the selection of the 1976–77 entering class.

The Association continued its efforts to increase the number of minority students selected for medicine. The Medical Minority Applicant Registry was twice distributed to the medical school admissions officers. In addition, a training device for those involved in selecting students, the Simulated Minority Admissions Exercises, was developed and refined through a series of regional workshops. The exercise workbooks and manuals are now being published for utilization by admissions officers and admissions committees in the medical schools

The Association filed an amicus curiae brief on behalf of the defendant, the University of Washington, in the case of De Funis v. Odegaard, which was heard by the U.S. Supreme Court. This case was of major significance in relation to affrmative action efforts directed toward selecting minority students for medicine. The plaintiff, a nonminority University of Washington Law School applicant, alleged that minority students who were less qualified than he were admitted solely on the basis of race, constituting discrimination. The Supreme Court did not rule on the ments of the case, judging it moot because the student, who had been admitted in 1971 by court order, was about to graduate. Since the Supreme Court's decision, several similar suits have been filed in various parts of the country, some of them by medical school applicants. The created by the federal requirement that the schools demonstrate affirmative action efforts while potentially subject to suit for reverse discrimination must ultimately be resolved by the courts Meanwhile, the Association is

studying all aspects of the problem in order to advise the institutions regarding their admissions procedures. Litigation by students directed at the institutions where they are attempting to enroll is becoming increasingly common.

Securing sufficient financial aid for medical students has been a major concern of the Association. In its testimony before Congress, the Association strongly recommended that federal grants-in-aid and loans to medical students be continued through the Bureau of Health Resources Development and that the annual limitation on grants-in-aid be increased from \$3,500 to \$4,500. The Association also supported provisions for loan forgiveness for students who choose to serve in the National Health Service Corps or practice in a health shortage area.

Four regional workshops directed toward improving the administration of financial aid services to the students by the institutions were held during the spring of 1974. Over one hundred medical school financial aid officers attended these workshops Discussion topics

included national and local financial aid policies, technical problems related to recordkeeping and needs analysis

The Coordinated Transfer Program for U.S. citizens studying medicine abroad continued to expand. Through COTRANS, 957 students took the Part I examination of the National Board of Medical Examiners; 292 passed Since the inception of the program in 1970, 2,340 students have been tested, 686 have passed the exam and 546 have enrolled in U.S. medical schools. There has been a steady increase in the number of students and schools utilizing COTRANS.

The Group on Student Affairs held a planning conference in February of 1974 in Chicago. Specific areas of major concern were identified and it was recommended that the GSA and the Association focus on problems related to medical student financial aid, admissions policies, data acquisition and confidentiality, student personnel administration, the legal problems faced by student affairs officers, and the special needs of the professional student affairs officers and advisors.

Institutional Development

The Management Advancement Program has been in operation for two full years. This program, maturing with the deep involvement of representatives of the Council of Deans under the direction of a steering committee chaired by Dr. Ivan Bennett, has sought to enhance the leadership qualities and skills requisite to the task of creative institutional development.

The program consists of three seminars. The first, an Executive Development Seminar (Phase I) for the dean or the principal executive officer of the medical school, is a oneweek workshop on management technique and theory conducted for a maximum of 25 participants by faculty from the MIT Sloan School of Management. The second, a followup Institutional Development Seminar (Phase II), is conducted three months to a year following the Phase I seminar. The dean, who has completed the Phase I seminar, selects a group of colleagues to join him in Phase II. He and his colleagues review some of the concepts and informational input from the first seminar and have an opportunity to apply some of these concepts to a problem of concern to the institution.

The first Phase III Seminar was held in June of 1974. This seminar, for which Phase II is a prerequisite, was designed to increase the capability within the medical schools in applying problem solving techniques. In addition to further exposure to management concepts and skills, Phase III provides extended team time for actual problem-solving sessions.

Underlying the design of the program is the perception that the leadership of the academic medical center and its component institutions can benefit greatly from an enhancement of their technical managerial skills and a refinement of their human relations or behavioral skills. This is coupled with a recognition of the necessity of broadening the base of interest in improving the managerial quality within in-

dividual schools. Thus, not only the principal manager or executive is involved, but a whole group of those concerned with the development of the institution and its programs. The need for follow-up and reinforcement is also recognized and accounts for the iterative nature of the program.

With the fourth Phase I, 82 deans will have participated in the Executive Development Seminars. The follow-up seminars have involved 37 institutions in Phase II and 7 in Phase III. Over 286 individual participants have attended. In addition to the deans, 63 department chairmen, 19 hospital administrators, 13 vice presidents, two chancellors, and a considerable number of business off cers and planning coordinators have attended.

Closely related to these efforts has been the assistance provided to the Group on Business Affairs and the Planning Coordinators Group in the development of their professional educational programs, patterned after the conceptual framework of the Management Advancement Program. Such coordination insures an understanding of the interdependent goals of these different programs.

In support of these activities and the goal of institutional renewal is a series of descriptive and analytic studies of the academic medical center now underway. A Delphi forecast of the future of medical education as perceived by the deans has been completed. A file of documents relating to the governance of the schools has been established, from which such matters as the organizational structure and governance processes can be examined. Specific areas which have been studied include the process and authority for the appointment of deans and department heads, and procedures for appointment, promotion, award of tenure and dismissal of faculty members. Also under examination is the status of collective bargaining in higher education and its implications for medical school faculties. Ongoing efforts are underway to identify from the literature and facilitate the outside development of additional studies of significance to medical centermanagement.

As a result of legislation directed at assuring equal opportunity for women and minorities in the educational process, all medical schools have been required to provide data and undertake an analysis of personnel policies which will demonstrate nondiscriminatory practices. The institutions are required by law to correct any practices which are found to be discriminatory. In order to assist the institutions to meet these requirements, the Association has been attempting to identify appropriate models for data collection and documentation of personnel procedures, and means for assuring the provision of due process. In conjunction with this, there have been communications with representatives of the Office of Civil Rights, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Wage and Hour Division of the Department of Labor, and the Department of Justice to maintain current information with

respect to new or revised requirements and regulations.

An additional activity has been active participation in an inter-association Equal Employment Opportunity Task Force, staffed by the American Council on Education. This has provided the opportunity to develop in conjunction with other educational associations a series of recommendations to the federal agencies responsible for the development and implementation of the requirements and penalties.

The Association collects and analyzes data describing the status of women applicants to medical schools, women faculty members at U.S. and Canadian medical schools, and the cohort of women physicians who are participants in a longitudinal study which began in 1956. Additionally, participation in a number of conferences for professional women has provided a forum for formal and informal exchange of information related to the impact of increasing the numbers of women in medicine and other health professions, and in the more general category of non-traditional fields.

Teaching Hospitals

The past year witnessed heightened governmental activity aimed at regulating the health industry Considerable Association activity was directed toward analyzing and responding to legislation and regulations dealing with hospital controls.

In response to regulations regarding the payment of teaching physicians under Medicare, (Section 227, PL 92-603), the staff conducted studies of reimbursement at six medical centers. These studies resulted in a report which was instrumental in delaying the implementation of Section 227 pending a more thorough analysis of the issue by the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences

Proposed regulations seeking to implement Section 223 of PL 92-603 were published in May of 1974. These regulations, which were finally adopted in June, subdivided all shortterm general hospitals into seventy groups within which per diem routine service costs were limited. Staff developed an analysis of the Social Security Administration's grouping methodology, employing data provided to the Association by the SSA This analysis concluded that the proposed regulations sought to implement an overly simplistic mechanism which had the capability to deny reimbursement for costs that were in every way reasonable. Empirical analyses demonstrated that the hospital groups established in the regulations were no better than random groupings. Although final regulations were issued for a period of one year, the classification methodology employed by SSA to group hospitals will be subject to further scrutiny. The Association will be working with the Bureau of Health Insurance in its efforts to develop a more refined classification methodology during the next twelve months.

The AAMC also responded to proposed regulations seeking to implement other sections of the Social Security Amendments and directly affecting teaching hospitals. Association comments were filed regarding: Section 2991 payment for services in connection with

kidney transplant and renal dialysis; Section 233, amount of payments where customary charges for services furnished are less than reasonable cost; Section 237, regulations specifying utilization review procedures under Medicare and Medicaid; Section 208, rules regarding the implementation of cost sharing under Medicaid; and Section 221, limitation of federal participation in capital expenditures by hospitals.

In response to a request by the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Hospitals, the AAMC organized a task force to review and analyze the 1973 revisions of the JCAH Standards. Among the areas included in the task force report were governance format, medical staff role in institutional patient care decisions, medical staff appointment qualifications, house staff participation in quality assurance, and innovation in teaching hospitals. Because of this initial work with the Commission, the staff has been asked to follow through by reviewing the model medical staff bylaws for their applicability and relevance to teaching hospitals.

Preliminary results are expected within the coming year from a survey and analysis effort designed to examine the organizational and functional arrangements of computer services in university-owned teaching hospitals. The Association is seeking support for a research project to analyze the differential utilization of ancillary services in three groups of teaching hospitals classified by their involvement in medical education.

Foundational work is being undertaken to design a project whereby the costs and production functions of teaching hospitals can be more rigorously specified. It is hoped that this effort will assist in more rigorously quantifying the impact on cost of hospital participation in educational programs. An initial output of this project is an annotated bibliographical review summarizing efforts to document the relationship between involvement in medical education and cost.

Communications

The Association communicates its views, studies, and reports to its constituents, interested federal representatives, and the public through a variety of publications, news releases, press conferences, and personal interviews. The major communications vehicle for keeping the constituents informed is the President's Weekly Activities Report. This publication, which is issued 43 times a year and reaches more than 3,000 subscribers, reports on AAMC activities and federal activities that have a direct effect on medical education, biomedical research, and health care

The Journal of Medical Education continued to expand during the past year. The Journal published 1,331 pages of editorial material during this period compared with 1,288 pages the previous year The proceedings of a Fogarty International Center Conference, "Medical Education and Medical Care A Dynamic Equilibrium," were published as Part 2 of the December 1973 issue The regular issues carried three supplements during the year: "Guidelines for Academic Medical Centers Planning to Assume Institutional Responsibility for Graduate Medical Education" (48: 779-91, Aug 73); "Survey and Evaluation of Approaches to Physician Performance Measurement" (48:1051-93, Nov 73), and "Undergraduate Medical Education ments, Objectives, Costs" (49. 101-28, Jan 74). Other regular issues carried special sections on cost and management and on the use of computers in health science centers. The plenary addresses from the 1973 AAMC Annual Meeting and the 1973 AAMC Proceedings and Annual Report also were published in the Journal.

The Journal's monthly circulation is about 6,500. Excluding the supplements and the Part 2 magazine, a total of 154 papers (90 regular articles and 64 Communications) were published, compared with 151 papers the previous year. The Journal also continued to publish editorials, datagrams, book reviews, letters to the editor, and bibliographies provided by the National Library of Medicine.

The *Journal* in 1973-74 received 397 manuscripts for consideration. Of these, 140 were accepted for publication, 169 were rejected, 17 were withdrawn, and 71 were pending as the year ended. In the previous year, 359 papers were received.

The AAMC Bulletin, which contains news items from the schools, the Association, the government, and related fields of education, circulated almost 7,000 copies a month. In addition to the Bulletin, other newsletters of a more specialized nature are: AAMC Education News (which is sponsored by The National Fund for Medical Education), The Advisor, COTH Report, and Student Affairs Reporter About 40,000 copies of the annual Medical School Admission Requirements, 4,000 copies of the AAMC Directory of American Medical Education, and 3,500 copies of the AAMC Curriculum Directory were sold or distributed Numerous other publications such as directories, reports, papers, studies, proceedings, and archival listings, also were produced and distributed by the AAMC

The Educational Press Association of America cited three articles in two AAMC publications to receive "EdPress Awards for Excellence in Educational Journalism" Cited were an editorial in the Journal of Medical Education and a feature and news story in the AAMC Bulletin

The Group on Public Relations, which represents the public information officers of the medical schools and teaching hospitals, made progress on its two primary projects for the year Med-Aware and the development of Patient Information Guidelines

The public increasingly gets its information from what is commonly called the electronic media, television and radio Med-Aware is aimed at taking advantage of the public's viewing and listening habits to reinforce the need for continuing support of medical research and education Patient Information Guidelines are being developed for use in handling the VIP patient, particularly the newsworthy public figure

Information Systems

The Association is developing a comprehensive and integrated information system, which will include data on students, faculty and institutions. The junction of these components will permit summary information from the personoriented data bases to be included as institutional data and will permit studies of faculty or students to take into account the characteristics of the institutions with which they are associated

The data on applicants and students includes biographic and demographic information, as well as measures of academic achievement and application activity. It is regularly analyzed and reported in the "Study of U.S. Medical School Applicants," published annually in the *Journal of Medical Education*. Special reports are also made on such subjects as retention and testing activity.

Data on medical school faculty includes biographic information as well as present appointment, employment and educational history, and information on past or present participation in federal programs. The data is used to provide a roster and descriptive statistics to each medical school, as well as to support research on faculty development, mobility, and attrition.

The Institutional Profile System was designed to bring organization and accessibility to the collection, storage, and retrieval of AAMC institutional data in order to facilitate: (a) service to the constituency through comparative interinstitutional feedback; (b) a comprehensive institutional data system for staff and outside user needs; and (c) interinstitutional research targeted at improving the conceptualization of the medical education system. Data now included or planned for inclusion in this system includes all AAMC data on medical schools and teaching hospitals.

In addition to flexible and accessible in

formation organization, the system presents the capability to generate computer reports uniquely tailored to an individual institution or to groups of institutions. These reports contain descriptive, ranking, or statistical suminformation facilitating interinstitutional comparisons. Analytic studies and evaluations of the available data supplement these ongoing reporting activities. For example, institutional dissimilarities manifested in the data have prompted the development of a "sister-school" or "sister-hospital" algorithm which scales institutions in terms of uniqueness and identifies for any institution those other institutions which exhibit similar data patterns.

The Association continues to serve as an information resource for teaching hospitals with respect to the dissemination of medical school affiliation agreements, bibliographies on topics of special interest, relevant court decisions affecting teaching hospitals, Internal Revenue Service rulings concerning house staff stipends, comparative revenue and expense data, and analyses of collective bargaining trends.

For the sixth successive year, the Survey of House Staff Policy was conducted. The survey is designed to compile information regarding the relationship between teaching hospitals and house officers and serves as one of the most comprehensive sources of data on stipends and fringe benefits. A five-year analysis of house staff salaries was undertaken in an attempt to construct a model explaining factors that influence the variability of salaries among hospitals and in the same and in different years, an article reporting the findings of this study will appear in the *Journal of Medical Education*.

The sixth annual survey of teaching hospital executive salaries is in the data collection stage

and results will be disseminated in early December. An analysis of trends in executive salaries across the last five years was mailed to participants in the survey during August.

The Association has continued its study of university owned and/or operated teaching

hospital income and expense although under a revised format. This year the questionnaire was designed to abstract relevant data from the Medicare Cost Report filed by each hospital. The innovation is expected to produce more comparable analyses

Treasurer's Report

The audited statements and the audit report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1974 were carefully examined by representatives of the Association's auditors, Ernst & Ernst, representatives of the Association's legal counsel, Williams, Myers and Quiggle, and members of the Association's Audit Committee on August 30, 1974. At its meeting in Washington on September 20, 1974, the Executive Council reviewed and accepted the final audit, which was unqualified except for possible legal liability under pending litigation concerning score reporting for the Medical College Admission Test. The management letter accompanying the audit report indicates that the Association's fiscal and internal control systems are adequate and minor recommendations for their improvement have already been implemented The auditors expressed satisfaction with the performance of the accounting staff, with the quality of the accounting records and procedures, and with the excellent cooperation of the staff during the course of the audit.

Total income for the year increased 20.84° to \$7,562,371 Added volume of activity in

special projects accounted for 33% of the increase, with contracts and grants providing 45%, membership dues 1%, and other items including interest income, annual meeting income, and miscellaneous receipts 21%.

Expenditures and transfers to restricted funds for special purposes totaled \$6,508,597. 50.5% of the increase in expenditures was in grants and contracts and 49.5% in other Association programs.

Balances in funds restricted by grantor increased \$153,500 to \$580,531 while unrestricted funds available for general purposes increased \$1,037,081 to \$3,089,407—a reserve equal to less than 6 months' operations at the 1973–74 level of expenditures.

As the Association continues to expand its services and given the uncertainties of the sources of the Association's future financial support, the continuation of reserve accumulation is appropriate and should be continued until such a time as unrestricted reserves are approximately equal to one year's operating expenses.

Association of American Medical Colleges

Balance Sheet

June 30, 1974

Δςςέτς		

Cash	\$ 136,286
Certificates of Deposit	3,600,000
Accounts Receivable	1,179,420
Deposits and prepaid items	19,761
Investments in management account	813,187
Total	\$5,748,654

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities

Accounts payable	\$ 361,560
Deferred income	787,397
Fund balances	,
Funds restricted for special purposes	1,213,434
Funds restricted to investment in plant	296,856
General funds	3,089,407
Total	\$5,748,654

Operating Statement

Fiscal Year ended June 30, 1974

SOURCE OF FUNDS

Income

Dues and service fees from members	\$1,427,059
Grants restricted by grantor	549,266
Cost reimbursement contracts	1,789,390
Special services	3,050,428
Journal of Medical Education	60,394
Other publications	174,569
Sundry	511,265
Subtotal	\$7,562,371
Reserve for MCAT Development	131,016
Reserve for special minority programs	5,791
Total	\$7,699,178

USE OF FUNDS

Operating expenses	
Salaries and wages	\$2,598,949
Staff benefits	343,210
Supplies and services	2,829,526
Equipment	67,472
T1	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Equipment	67,472
Travel	569,440
Subtotal	\$6,408,597
Transfer to restricted funds	,

Transfer to restricted funds	
for special purposes	100,000
Increase in restricted funds balances	153,500
Increase in unrestricted funds balances	1,037,081
Total	\$7,699,178

AAMC Membership

TYPE	1972-73	1973-74
Institutional	101	105
Provisional Institutional	14	10
Affiliate	15	17
Provisional Affiliate	2	0
Graduate Affiliate	1	1
Academic Societies	51	56
Teaching Hospitals	390	394
Individual	2,233	2,243
Emeritus	65	63
Contributing	13	13
Sustaining	15	15

AAMC Committees, 1972-73

Admissions Assessment

Cheves McC. Smythe, chairman

Leslie T. Webster

Willard M. Duff

Joseph S. Gonnella

Walter F. Leavell

John McAnally

Jack M. Colwill

Frederick Waldman

Audit

Robert A. Derzon, chairman

Sam L. Clark, Jr.

Robert W. Berliner

Biochemistry Special Achievement

Clyde G. Huggins, chairman

Armand J. Guarino

J. J Sallach

Biomedical Research and Research Training

Eugene Braunwald, chairman

W. Gerald Austen

Stuart Bondurant

Ronald W. Estabrook

11/ 10 1/ 1 11/1

Wolfgang K. Joklik

A. Brian Little

Joseph E. Rall

Claude J. Migeon James A. Pittman

John Oates

Julius S. Youngner

Robert W. Berliner

Russell Ross

Borden Award

Lloyd H. Smith, Jr.

Richard H. Saunders, Jr.

Robert M. Berne

Albert L. Lehninger

John H. Moxley, III

Building

Leonard W. Cronkhite, Jr., chairman

Christopher C. Fordham, III

Sam L. Clark, Jr.

Daniel C. Tosteson

Charles C. Sprague

Russell A Nelson

CAS Nominating

Ronald W. Estabrook, chairman

Carmine D. Clemente

Sam L. Clark, Jr.

Ernst Knobil

F. Marion Bishop

Charles F. Gregory

William O Dobbins, III

Centennial

Robert J. Glaser, chairman

Robert B. Howard

William G Anlyan

Russell A. Nelson

Charles C Sprague

Daniel C Tosteson

COD Nominating

John A. Dixon, chairman

John H. Moxley, III

John W. Eckstein

Richard Janeway

Donald N. Medearis

COTH Ad Hoc Committee to Review JCAH Manual

Manuai

John H. Westerman, chairman

James E. Cassidy

David Dickinson

David Jeppson

Malcom Randall

C. Thomas Smith, Jr.

Richard Varco

COTH Membership Criteria

Charles B. Womer, chairman Allan C. Anderson Don L. Arnwine Clyde G. Cox Andrew G. Hunt, Jr.

COTH Nominating

Irvin G. Wilmot, chairman Robert A. Derzon Herluf V. Olsen, Jr.

Coordinating Council on Medical Education

AAMC Members

William G. Anlyan Clifford Grobstein T. Stewart Hamilton

LIAISON COMMITTEE ON GRADUATE MEDICAL LDUCATION

AAMC Members

William G. Anlyan John Danielson William D. Holden Julius R Krevans

LIAISON COMMITTEE ON MEDICAL EDUCATION

AAMC Members

Ralph J. Cazort Kenneth R. Crispell T. Stewart Hamilton Thomas D. Kinney Ernst Knobil C John Tupper

Data Development Liaison

Robert M. Bucher, chairman John C. Bartlett Morton D. Bogdonoff Christopher C. Fordham, III Paul Gazzerro, Jr. James Griesen Mary Ellen Hartman H. Jay Hassell Marion Mann

Thomas E Morgan

Raymond H. Murray Marvin F. Neely, Jr. John E. Pauly Walter G. Rice Marvin Siegel

Financing of Medical Education

Charles C. Sprague, chairman William G. Anlyan James W. Bartlett Howard L. Bost Robert A. Chase John A. Gronvall William D. Mayer Craig Moffat Russell A. Nelson Bert Seidman William H. Stewart

Flexner Award

William J Grove, chairman W. Loren Williams John H. Westerman Charles E. Mengel Jerry B Zeldis

Foreign Medical Graduates

Kenneth R. Crispell, chairman Martin S. Begun George E. Cartmill Merlin K. DuVal Rolla B. Hill Robert Q. Marston Max Michael, Jr Robert J. Weiss Joseph M. White

GAP Report Task Force

Neal L. Gault, Jr., chairman H. Robert Cathcart Carmine D. Clemente Robert L. Tuttle A. Jay Bollet Ronald P. Kaufman John H. Moxley, III Mark Cannon Susan Shackelton

Graduate Medical Education

William G. Anlyan, chairman

Sam L. Clark, Jr

William J. Grove

David H. Hitt

Julius R. Krevans

Lucian Leape

Christian Ramsey

Arnold S. Relman

Dael L. Wolfle

Group on Business Affairs

STEERING

Marvin H. Siegel, chairman

William C. Hilles, executive secretary

M. James Peters

V. Wayne Kenney

Joseph E. Lynch

Daniel L. Benford

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Joseph Pressig, chairman

Clarence A. Brockman

Hugh B. Cox

Jon A. Klover

Eddie K. Parker

Marvin J. Randell

Thomas A. Rolinson

V. Wayne Kenney

RULES AND REGULATIONS

Ruth E. Bardwell, chairman

Thomas Bannon

Paul Gazzerro

Paul E. Moyer

E Wayne Drehmei

FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL STANDARDS

Ronald A. Lochbaum, chairman

James C. Leming

Donald H. Lentz

John W. Lewis

Richard G. Littlejohn

Frederick B. Putney

Marion Woodbury

Thomas A. Fitzgerald

Warren H. Kennedy

INFORMATION RESOURCES

Warren H. Kennedy, chairman

Robert Drachenberg

Wallace Harris

Jerry Huddleston

M. Ronald Parelius

Robert Walker

Don Young

Ronald A Lochbaum

C. N. Stover, Jr.

NOMINATING

Richard C. Webster, chairman

Ruth E. Bardwell

Daniel L Benford

Lauren W. Blagg

C. N. Stover, Jr

M. James Peters

EXTERNAL RELATIONS

F. Haydn Morgan, chairman

Paul D. Godwin

Robert R Graves

C N. Stover, Jr

Ronald R Van Stockum

V Wayne Kennedy

PROGRAM

Thomas A. Fitzgerald, chairman

Thomas J. Campbell

Maria E. Esponosa

Cyrıl W. Kupferberg

Ervin C. Proschk

Marvin H. Siegel

Group on Medical Education

STEERING

Howard Levitin, chairman

James B. Erdmann, executive secretary

Christine McGuire

T. Earle Bowen

D. Dax Taylor

Robert A. Barbee

Robert J. McCollister

David M Tormey

Myron G. Sandifer, Jr.

Group on Public Relations

STEERING

Joseph H. Sigler, chairman Charles Fentress, executive secretary

William D. Glance
Marion M. Corddry
Kenneth A. Niehans
William Bulger
Trudy King
Joseph T. Coyle

Terry R. Barton Devra Breslow

Group on Student Affairs

STEERING

Paul R. Elliott, chairman
Robert Boerner, executive secretary
Jack M. Colwill
Mary Ellen Hartman
John C. Herweg
Horace N. Marvin
Charles E Spooner
Robert L Tuttle
J. Woodruff Ewell
Daniel L. Clarke-Pearson

MEDICAL STUDENT INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Miles Hench, chairman Lloyd Chapin Paul R Elliott Frederick Lane Billy B. Rankin Mitchell Rosenholtz Karl Weaver John Wellington

Alfred Sanfillipo

FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF MEDICAL STUDENTS

Geno Andreatta, chairman Ruth Bentley William Cadbury Susan Croll Paul R Elliott Frances French Suydam Osterhout John Steward W Albert Sullivan George Warner Eileen P. Wilson Stephen R. Keasler

RELATIONS WITH COLLEGES AND APPLICANTS

Roger Lambson, chairman John Beljan Frank Burtner Jack Colwill J. Woodruff Ewell John Craettinger Julius Hoffman John McAnally William Van Huysen Susan Stein

MEDICAL EDUCATION OF MINORITY GROUP STUDENTS

John Watson, chairman Alonzo Atenzio Raymond Barreras L. Thompson Bowles James Curtis Edgar Jackson Reid Jackson Walter F. Leavell Stan Pearson

NOMINATIONS AND RULES

W. Albert Sullivan, chairman James Curtis Miles Hench Owen Peck

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND ADVISING

Mitchell Rosenholtz, chairman Joshua S. Golden Wilbert Jordan Paul Palmisano William Van Huysen

HMO Curriculum Advisory

Samuel J. Bosch, chairman Eugene Vayda Joel J. Alpert Jack D. Meyers Mitchell T. Rabkin John P. Utz

Health Services Advisory

Christopher C. Fordham, III, chairman

Clement R. Brown David R. Challoner Luther Christman Vincent A. Fulginiti

M. Alfred Haynes Robert M. Heyssel

Richard L. Meiling Thomas E. Piemme

Joanne Scherr

Stuart M. Sessoms

Anne R. Somers Robert J. Weiss

John H. Westerman

John H. Westerman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON QUALITY OF CARE

Robert J. Weiss, chairman Clement R. Brown David R. Challoner Christopher C. Fordham, III Richard L. Meiling

TASK FORCE ON PRIMARY CARE

Thomas E. Piemme, chairman Steven A. Schroeder Clement R. Brown Lynn Carmichael Evan Charney Thomas L. Delbanco Alfred M. Sadler, Jr Henry Seidel William H. Wiese Hibbard Williams

International Relations in Medical Education

Neal L. Gault, Jr., chairman Timothy D. Baker H. Mead Cavert Kurt Deuschle David L. Everhart Pierre M. Galletti Jeff Horovitz

George Lythcott Edwin A. Wallace

Journal of Medical Education Editorial Board

Edmund D. Pellegrino, chairman Carlton P. Alexis Barbara Bates Peter L. Eichman Henry W. Foster, Jr. Ralph W Ingersoll Richard Janeway Hilliard Jason Richard M. Magraw Hans O. Mauksch Christine McGuire Evan G. Pattishall, Jr. Osler L. Peterson Richard P Schmidt Mona M. Shangold Robert S. Stone Jan Weber

MCAAP Review

John H. Westerman

Clifford G. Grulee, chairman George E. Cartmill David R. Challoner Tessa Fischer Cheves McC. Smythe Leslie T. Webster Charles B. Womer Ernest Turner

Measurement of Personality

William Schofield, chairman Harold B. Haley Woodrow W. Morris Betty Hosmer Mawardi Evan G. Pattishall, Jr.

Management Program Coordinating

Ivan L. Bennett, Jr., chairman
Jane G. Elchlepp
Bernard J. Lachner
L. Edgar Lee, Jr.
Walter G. Rice
Clayton Rich
William B. Schwartz

Cheves McC. Smythe

MANAGEMENT ADVANCEMENT PROGRAM STEERING

Ivan L Bennett, Jr., chairman
J. Robert Buchanan
John A. Gronvall
Irving London
William D Mayer
Donald N. Medearis, Jr
Clayton Rich
Cheves McC Smythe

MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS PROGRAM LIAISON

Jane G Elchlepp, chairman Robert M. Bucher Ben R Forsyth Bernard Lachner L. Edgar Lee, Jr. James C Leming Irving J. Lewis Henry W. Riecken John Rockart Robert F Sharp Cheves McC Smythe

Moonlighting

Sherman M. Mellinkoff, chairman David D. Thompson Ludwig Eichna

Nominating

George E Cartmill, chairman Leon O Jacobson Ronald W Estabrook Irvin G Wilmot John Dixon

National Health Insurance

James F Kelly, chairman Jack W Cole Merlin K DuVal Baldwin G. Lamson Alexander Leaf G. Thomas Shires John M. Stagl Robert L. Van Citters Ernest Turner

Planning Coordinators Group

STEERING

Roger Bennett, chairman
Gerlandino Agro, executive secretary
Michael T. Romano
Ruth Covell
Russell C. Mills
Frederick W. Cassidy, Jr
Walter G Rice
George M. Norwood, Jr

RIME Program Planning

Joseph W. Hess, chairman Jo Boufford W. Loren Williams, Jr. Charles W. Dohner Ralph W. Ingersoll Robert G. Crounse

Resolutions

Robert L Van Citters, chairman Ludwig W. Eichna John W. Colloton Serena Friedman

Veterans Administration Liaison

T. Albert Farmer, chairman Richard V. Ebert John M. Stagl Robert L. Van Citters Marvin C. Kuschner Ronald W. Estabrook

AAMC Staff. 1973-74

Office of the President

President

John A. D. Cooper, M.D., Ph.D.

Vice President

John F. Sherman, Ph.D.

Special Assistant to the President

Bart Waldman

Division of Business Affairs

Director and Assistant Secretary-Treasurer

J. Trevor Thomas

Assistant Director

Samuel Morey

Assistant Comptroller

William Martin

Staff Assistants

Linda Smiley

Carolyn Ulf

Division of Data Processing

Director

H. Paul Jolly, Ph.D.

Assistant Director

Jesse Darnell

Senior Systems Analyst

Jack Matthews

Division of Program Liaison and Evaluation

Director

Doris A Howell, M.D.*

Division of Publications

Director

Merrill T. McCord

Manuscript Editor

Rosemarie D. Hensel

Assistant Editor

James Ingram

Staff Editor

Vickie Wilson

Assistant to Staff Editor

Daisy L Harrison

Division of Public Relations

Director

Charles Fentress

Department of Academic Affairs

Director

August G Swanson, M.D.

Deputy Director

William G. Cooper, Ph.D.

Assistant Director

Michael F. Ball, M D.

Senior Staff Associate

Mary H. Littlemeyer

Division of Biomedical Research

Director

Michael F Ball, M.D

Division of Educational Measurement and Research

Director

James B Erdmann, Ph.D.

Associate Director

Ayres D'Costa, Ph.D.

Assistant to the Director

Michael McGraw

Project Director, MCAAP

James Angel

Associate Project Director, MCAAP

Mary A. Fruen, Ph D.

Project Director, Longitudinal Study

Rosemary Yancik, Ph.D.

Research Associate

Bonnie Nelson

Research Assistants

Robert Feitz

^{*} Resigned

Anne Schafer Xenia Tonesk

Division of Educational Resources

Director
William G. Cooper, Ph.D.
Technical Assistant
Jenny Johnson
AV Project Coordinator for Medicine**
Norbert A. Jones, Ph.D.
AV Project Coordinator for Dentistry**
Robert M. Conner, D.D.S
Data Management Specialist**
Edward L. Campbell*
Staff Assistant**

Division of Faculty Development

Director Hillard Jason, M.D.

Phyllis M. Bevis

Division of Student Services

Director
Gerald Kurtz
Manager, Computer Operations
Clifford Cummins
Manager, Applicant and Student Relations
Mary Gainer

Division of Student Programs

Director
Robert L. Thompson, Ed.D.*
Robert J. Boerner
Assistant to the Director
Dorothy J. Joyce*
Assistant Director, Special Programs
Suzanne P. Dulcan
Director, Minority Affairs
Dario O. Prieto
Associate Director, Minority Affairs
John Walker, III
Staff Assistant
Diane Mathews

Division of Student Studies

Director Davis G. Johnson, Ph D.

* Resigned

** Located in Atlanta, Georgia

Associate Director W. F. Dubé

Department of Health Services

Director
James I. Hudson, M.D.
Staff Associates
Lily Engstrom
Joseph Giacaloni
Marcel Infeld
Special Consultant
Stephen J. Ackerman*

Department of Institutional Development

Director
Marjorie P. Wilson, M.D.
Deputy Director
Doris A. Howell, M.D.*
Assistant Program Coordinator, MAP
Amber Jones
Staff Assistants
Evelyn Harrison*
Connie Choate

Division of Accreditation

Director
James R. Schofield, M.D.
Staff Associate
Nan Hayes

Division of Institutional Studies

Director
Joseph A. Keyes, J.D.
Staff Associate
S. Jane Becker
Staff Assistants
Laura Weiss*
Susan Langran

Department of Teaching Hospitals

Director
Richard M. Knapp, Ph.D.
Assistant Director
Dennis Pointer, Ph.D.

Staff Associates
Robert Carow
Armand Checker
Editor, COTH Report
Grace W. Beirne*
Steven Summer

Department of Planning and Policy Development

Director
John F. Sherman, Ph.D.
Deputy Director
H. Paul Jolly, Ph.D.

Division of Federal Liaison

Director
Prentice Bowsher
Legislative Analysts
Rosemary L. Wilson
Linda Stokes

Division of Operational Studies

Director

H. Paul Jolly, Ph D.

Director, Institutional Profile Gregory Fawcett, Ph.D. **Economic Analyst** Joseph Rosenthal Senior Staff Associate William Hilles Staff Associates Gerlandino Agro Philip Anderson, Ph.D. Jonathan Bromberg Stuart Fribush Marcia Lane Project Director, Faculty Roster Thomas A. Larson Assistant Project Director, Faculty Roster Aarolyn Galbraith Staff Assistant Linda Langis

Division of International Medical Education

Director
Emanuel Suter, M.D.
Administrative Associate
Jack W Swartwood
Research Associate
Wendy Waddell

^{*} Resigned

ASSOC. OF AM. MEDICAL COLLEGES

3 2450 00009 8151

SCAM R15 A92

Association of Americ... 32450000098151